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Sonic Healthcare Annual Report 2008

sonic Healthcare performed with great 
distinction through the 2007/8 financial year. 
the company recorded strong revenue growth 
at both organic and acquisitional levels and 
once again delivered record results at the 
earnings line. this is the thirteenth consecutive 
year in which sonic has achieved double-digit 
earnings per share growth, a great tribute to 
the talent and commitment of sonic’s 
pathologists, radiologists, managers, technicians 
and entire workforce.

A stand out feature of the year’s accomplishments 
was the exceptionally strong growth in the key 
laboratory markets of both Germany and the USA. 
In both countries, Sonic continues to strengthen its 
established market presence and use its critical 
mass as a springboard for further growth, synergy 
capture and service enhancement. In Germany, 
Sonic acquired Bioscientia Healthcare Group, 
an outstanding, internationally recognised 
laboratory operating throughout Germany. This 
transaction was followed by the acquisition of 
two other highly regarded regional laboratory 
companies – Labor 28 (Berlin) and GLP Medical 
(Hamburg). All three companies have much 
in common with Sonic in terms of corporate 
philosophy, systems, quality and culture. In 
addition, in December 2007, Sonic completed 
the acquisition of the minority interests in the 
Schottdorf Group. The four laboratories that now 
comprise Sonic Healthcare in Germany present a 
formidable partnership, with national coverage 
and exceptional depth of talent. Our strategy in 
Germany is to strive for highest levels of quality 
and service, to foster Sonic’s medical leadership 
model and to achieve optimal efficiencies.

In the United States, Sonic’s expansion has been 
considerable. In less than three years since the 
initial US acquisition, Sonic Healthcare USA now 

accounts for almost one quarter of Sonic’s total 
consolidated revenue. We have expanded our 
geographical reach to include the populous New 
York/New Jersey market via the acquisitions of 
Sunrise Medical Laboratories (July 2007) and 
American Clinical Services (January 2008). 
More recently (September 2008), the acquisition 
of Clinical Laboratories of Hawaii has added 
further strength to Sonic’s operations in the 
USA. Sonic’s US operations are managed via a 
divisional or federated structure, with divisional 
presidents relating to Sonic’s US head office team 
based in Austin, Texas.

Sonic’s Australian laboratory operations continue 
to operate at the highest levels of service and 
efficiency. Strong organic growth and synergy 
capture continue apace and service levels are 
at world’s best level. The company is fortunate 
to have an outstanding leadership team of 
pathologists and managers from all operating 
subsidiaries around the country. Operational 
collaboration, pooling of resources and other 
value-adding initiatives are at high levels of 
activity and I anticipate strong performance to 
continue into the future. Sonic’s Douglass Hanly 
Moir Pathology recently relocated to a new 
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purpose-built, ultra-modern and environmentally friendly facility in 
Sydney. This laboratory – which also accommodates Sonic’s global 
head office – is one of the most modern high volume laboratories in 
the world today, incorporating innovative design and workflow for 
rapid throughput and maximum efficiency.

Sonic’s laboratory operations in the UK and Switzerland also 
delivered outstanding services and financial results through the year 
and both are poised for future growth in their respective markets. 
Despite the outstanding quality of Sonic’s New Zealand laboratories, 
adverse regulatory and funding conditions continue to present  

Sonic’s laboratory operations 
in the UK and Switzerland 
also delivered outstanding 
services and financial results 
through the year
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a challenging environment for 
optimal laboratory performance.

Sonic’s radiology division, led 
by an outstanding team of 
radiologists, continues to operate 
at industry-best standards, 
despite difficult market conditions 
and sub-optimal funding 
mechanisms for radiology 
in Australia. The imaging 
division continues to provide 
great enhancement to Sonic’s 
reputation as a cutting edge 
medical diagnostics company.

In September 2008, Sonic 
completed the acquisition of 
the minority equity interests 
in Independent Practitioner 
Network Limited (IPN) via 
a scheme of arrangement. 
Although representing only 5% of 
Sonic’s current revenues, IPN will 
continue to hold a vital position 
within the Sonic Healthcare 
corporate framework. IPN 
operates with great success in 

With the dramatic recent 
expansion of the company’s 
operations, it has become 
increasingly important to 
unify our people around 
a common strategy and a 
common culture.
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the Australian primary care 
sector and offers a differentiated, 
professionally driven model 
which is proudly complimentary 
to Sonic’s global medical model.

With the dramatic recent 
expansion of the company’s 
operations, it has become 
increasingly important to unify 
our people around a common 
strategy and a common culture. 
Despite the fact that Sonic 
Healthcare currently operates in 
six countries, spread over three 
continents, I am pleased to say 
that there is tight and deep-
seated common bond which 
links the entire organisation, 
one which is based upon an 
established culture and creed.  
I would go so far as to say that 
this bond is the single most 
important feature underlying 
the overall strength and 
financial performance of the 
organisation.
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Despite a relatively short 21 year corporate history, Sonic Healthcare 
has developed a strong corporate culture and a unique style of 
practice – we refer to this internally as “The Sonic Difference”. It is an 
amalgam of a democratic set of core values, a distinctive medical 
leadership model, a federated management structure and an ethos 
of personalised service and outstanding quality. These features have 
presented a differentiated product in competitive markets, where 
they have worked to secure new customers in the medical market 
place and to attract like-minded corporate partners in the acquisition 
space. I feel confident that the majority of our more than 20,000  
staff not only endorse these fundamental corporate characteristics 
but feel proud to be part of the exciting and ongoing Sonic  
Healthcare story. 

On behalf of the Board of Sonic Healthcare, I wish to thank all our 
people for their important contributions over the past year. It is the 
loyalty, dedication and hard work of this group which has placed 
Sonic in such a strong and highly regarded position and which will 
carry the company forward to further successes in the future.

Dr Colin Goldschmidt
CEO and Managing Director

“The Sonic Difference”
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DireCtors’ report

Your directors present their report on the Group consisting of Sonic Healthcare Limited and the entities it controlled at 

the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2008.

Directors

The following persons were directors of Sonic Healthcare Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the 

date of this report:

Mr B.S. Patterson  Chairman 

Dr C.S. Goldschmidt Managing Director

Mr C.D. Wilks Finance Director

Mr R.P. Campbell 

Dr P.J. Dubois 

Mr C.J. Jackson 

Mr L.J. Panaccio 

Dr H.F. Scotton 

principal activities

During the year the principal continuing activities of the Group consisted of the provision of medical diagnostic services 

and the provision of administrative services and facilities to medical practitioners.

Dividends

Details of dividends in respect of the current year and previous financial year are as follows:

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Interim dividend paid 66,695 50,270
Final dividend payable on 9 October 2008 107,203 95,248

Total dividend for the year 173,898 145,518

On 20 August 2008, the board declared a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2008 of 32 cents 

per ordinary share, 100% franked (at 30%) to be paid on 9 October 2008 with a record date of 12 September 2008.   

An interim dividend of 20 cents per ordinary share 100% franked (at 30%) was paid on 26 March 2008.

A final dividend of 29 cents per ordinary share was paid on 20 September 2007 in respect of the year ended 30 June 

2007, out of profits of that year as recommended by the directors in last year’s Directors’ report.  The interim dividend  

in respect of the year ended 30 June 2007 was 17 cents per ordinary share, paid on 28 March 2007.

As a result of the Group’s international expansion, it is likely that future dividends, starting with the 2009 interim 

dividend, will not be fully franked.
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DireCtors’ report (CONTINUED)

Dividend reinvestment plan (Drp)

The company’s dividend reinvestment plan (DRP) was suspended in respect of the 2007 final and the 2008  

interim dividends.

The Board has determined that the DRP will operate for the 2008 final dividend.  Shares issued under the DRP 

will have a subscription price of $12.72, 2.5% below the arithmetic average of the daily volume weighted 

average price of Sonic shares sold (excluding off-market trades) on the Australian Securities Exchange on  

each of the 10 consecutive trading days from, and including, the second trading day after the record date for 

participation in the DRP which was 12 September 2008.  Shares will be allocated under the DRP on 9 October 2008.  

Shareholders holding ~40% of Sonic’s ordinary shares elected to participate in the DRP.  The balance (~$65 Million) of 

the 2008 final dividend which has not been reinvested by shareholders in the DRP has been fully underwritten at an 

issue price of $12.92 (a 1% discount to market price as determined above).

Full details of the DRP are set out in the Sonic Healthcare Limited Dividend Reinvestment Plan booklet.  To view  

a copy of the booklet, change current elections or register to participate in the DRP, shareholders can visit  

www.computershare.com, click on Investor Centre/Reinvestment Plans and follow the prompts.  Shareholders can  

also request a copy of the Dividend Reinvestment Plan booklet or DRP election form by contacting Computershare 

Investor Services on 1300 556 161.

review of operations

A summary of consolidated revenue and earnings is set out below:

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Movement
%

Total Revenue 2,380,327 1,886,081 26.2%

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 

(EBITDA) 478,568 405,667 18.0%

Depreciation and lease amortisation (75,909) (62,105) 22.2%

Earnings before interest, tax and intangibles amortisation 

(EBITA) 402,659 343,562 17.2%

Amortisation of intangibles (5,906) (2,633) 124.3%

Net interest expense (64,886) (50,473) 28.6%

Income tax attributable to operating profit (81,461) (80,402) 1.3%

Net (profit) attributable to minority interests (5,290) (11,982) (55.9)%

net profit attributable to shareholders of  
sonic Healthcare Limited 245,116 198,072 23.8%
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DireCtors’ report (CONTINUED)

review of operations (continued)

(a) revenue

Organic (non acquisitional) revenue growth for the year for Sonic’s pathology operations was strong, with Australia  

and Germany growing at ~8%, and US and UK growth exceeding this level (excluding foreign exchange rate  

movement impacts).  

Pathology revenue growth was augmented by the following major acquisitions and other small acquisitions during the 

current period and prior year:

– American Esoteric Laboratories, USA (8 January 2007)

– Medica Laboratory Group, Switzerland (30 May 2007)

– Sunrise Medical Laboratories, USA (31 July 2007)

– Bioscientia Healthcare Group, Germany (14 September 2007)

Revenue growth in the UK was augmented by the NHS Ealing Hospital contract which began on 1 July 2007.

In addition, the reported revenue of the Schottdorf Group (in Germany) has increased by ~$24 Million for the second 

half of the year as the legal restructure carried out to enable Sonic to reach 100% ownership caused a change in 

the legal entities consolidated in Sonic’s results.  This change, which will continue in the future, only affects reported 

revenue, and does not change profit.  It therefore causes a dilution in reported operating margins.

Radiology revenue growth was negatively impacted by site closures in the Hunter Valley as a result of the floods in 

June 2007, new competition in a number of regional markets, reduction in average fee as a result of price competition, 

and the disposal of Sonic’s Hong Kong radiology business during the prior year.

Revenue growth was also negatively impacted by foreign exchange movements, which reduced reported revenue by 

~$77 Million compared to the prior year.

Sonic’s Total Revenue for the year ended 30 June 2008 comprised as follows:

Australian/NZ Pathology 39%

USA 19%

Europe 23%

IPN 5%

Radiology 14%
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DireCtors’ report (CONTINUED)

review of operations (continued)

(b) profit

The net profit (after minority interests) of the Group for the year was $245,116,000 (2007: $198,072,000), after deducting 

income tax expense of $81,461,000 (2007: $80,402,000).  Diluted earnings per share increased 12.2% from 65.5 cents to 

73.5 cents due to earnings growth and the positive effect of acquisitions.

The results for the year were in line with the revenue and EPS growth guidance provided by Sonic in August 2007.  2008 

was Sonic’s thirteenth successive year of double-digit core earnings per share growth.  EPS growth was affected by the 

equity raisings conducted in August and November 2007 which financed acquisitions and set the Group’s balance 

sheet for further acquisitional growth.  Adverse foreign exchange rate impacts on the translation of the results of Sonic’s 

offshore operations (mainly USD related) reduced earnings per share growth by 250 basis points.

Operating margins:

2008 2007 Movement

EBITDA as a % of Revenue 20.1% 21.5% (140) bps*
EBITA as a % of Revenue 16.9% 18.2% (130) bps

* bps = basis points of margin

Reported operating margins have been significantly diluted by the acquisitions of businesses during the current and 

prior year (including those listed above) which have lower margins than the average of Sonic’s other businesses.  The 

margins resulting from the NHS Ealing Hospital contract are also lower than Sonic’s average margins, and the change 

in the Schottdorf Group structure described above also caused reported margin dilution.

Excluding these impacts, Sonic’s core pathology businesses performed strongly, demonstrating margin improvement, 

and commencement of synergy extraction in the US and Germany, whilst the radiology division continued to be 

impacted by market and cost pressures.

Net interest expense increased 28.6% on the prior year due to increased debt as a result of acquisitions in the current 

and previous year.  Almost all of Sonic’s bank debt is drawn in foreign currencies as “natural” balance sheet hedging of 

Sonic’s offshore operations and so Sonic was not significantly exposed to the increases in Australian base interest rates 

during the 2008 financial year.  Sonic’s weighted average interest rate on debt declined during the year, mainly as a 

result of falling USD interest rates.  Appropriate interest rate hedging arrangements are in place, in accordance with 

Sonic’s policy.

The effective tax rate in the second half of the year was 25.9%, in line with the guidance provided in February 

2008.  The rate in the first half (22.9%) was impacted by the finalisation of research claims for the 2007 financial year.  

The full year effective tax rate of 24.5% is lower than the prior year (27.7%) as a result of Sonic’s offshore expansion.  

Ignoring the impact of future acquisitions, and any short term fluctuations, the expected effective tax rate for future 

periods is ~25%.
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DireCtors’ report (CONTINUED)

review of operations (continued)

(c) Debt

During the year the Group maintained prudent debt/gearing levels, despite growth by acquisition:

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Gearing (Net Interest Bearing Debt/Market Capitalisation) 25.5% 25.2%
Net Interest Bearing Debt/EBITDA* (times) 2.59 2.81
EBITDA Interest Cover (EBITDA/Net Interest expense) (times) 7.38 8.04

* Note that EBITDA used in this calculation is as reported.  Under Sonic’s senior bank debt covenants EBITDA is normalised 

for a full year’s effect of acquisitions in the period and subject to other adjustments.  Net Interest Debt/EBITDA for 2008 

under Sonic’s bank covenants was 2.47 times.

Sonic’s net interest bearing debt at 30 June 2008 comprised:

aUD $M
Limit

aUD $M
Drawn

aUD $M
available

Multicurrency syndicated senior bank facility 1,750 1,247 503
IPN bank facility 47 28 19
Minor debt/leasing facilities n/a 27 n/a

Cash n/a (64) 64

Net interest bearing debt 1,797 1,238 586

During the year Sonic increased its multicurrency syndicated senior bank debt facility limits from A$1 Billion to 

A$1.75 Billion, with all existing syndicate members increasing their commitments and one additional bank joining  

the syndicate.

On 31 July 2008 Sonic established a new A$160 Million 3 year term bank debt facility to provide additional “headroom” 

for expansion on top of Sonic’s existing facilities.  The new facility was provided by two of the existing seven banks in 

Sonic’s syndicated facility.

Sonic’s senior debt facilities have expiry dates as follows:

aUD $M
Limit

15 March 2009 500
5 November 2010 47
15 March 2011 500
31 July 2011 160
29 October 2012 750

1,957
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DireCtors’ report (CONTINUED)

review of operations (continued)

(c) Debt (continued)

Net interest bearing debt at 30 June 2008 comprised the following currencies:

aUD $M
Drawn

USD 614
Euro 555
GBP 49
NZD 9
AUD 24
CHF (13)

1,238

In Sonic’s CEO and Managing Director’s presentation on 21 August 2008, Sonic announced that it expected to have 

net debt at 30 September 2008 (following settlement of the GLP Medical Group, Clinical Laboratories of Hawaii, 

and IPN minority interest acquisitions) of ~A$1,670 Million (using foreign exchange rates at 18 August 2008), and 

therefore “headroom” under its existing debt facilities of ~A$310 Million.  Sonic’s headroom fluctuates with exchange 

rate movements as the facility limits are in AUD and segments drawn in other currencies are translated into AUD for 

comparison to the limits.

(d) operational developments

The new Australian Federal Government is currently conducting reviews of the Government funding (via Medicare) of 

pathology and radiology, as the funding agreement between the Government and the industry for radiology expired 

on 30 June 2008, and the current pathology agreement expires on 30 June 2009.  The inter-departmental committee 

reviews are expected to be completed by 31 December 2008.  Input into the reviews from industry (via the industry 

associations) has been invited.  Sonic does not expect the outcomes of the reviews to materially impact its future 

financial performance.

As advised in Sonic’s announcement dated 20 March 2007 and in a media release dated 29 March 2007, Sonic was 

successful in its legal challenge against a decision to award a new community laboratory services contract in Auckland, 

New Zealand to a competitor.  Sonic was awarded an interim contract as sole provider of community pathology services 

in the Auckland region of New Zealand for a minimum of 18 months from 1 July 2007.  The competitor filed an appeal, 

which was heard in May 2008, with judgement handed down on 25 September 2008.  The Appeal Court reversed the 

previous High Court decision.   Sonic intends to apply for leave to appeal this judgment in the Supreme Court of New 

Zealand.  Sonic will continue to work with the Auckland regional District Health Boards to deliver excellent service to 

the people of Auckland, and expects that Sonic’s current contract will be extended for at least a further six months to 

allow time for the new appeal process.  This contract represented ~3% of Sonic’s 2008 revenue and EBITA.

Sonic’s new headquarters and the new Douglass Hanly Moir Pathology central laboratory in Macquarie Park, Sydney 

commenced operations in late 2007.  This state-of-the-art facility has significant capacity and will increase efficiencies 

in Sonic’s Australian pathology operations in the medium term.
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DireCtors’ report (CONTINUED)

significant changes in the state of affairs

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the course of the financial year included the following:

– In August 2007 the Group successfully completed an institutional private placement, raising A$400 Million of equity 

to fund acquisitions.

– In November 2007 A$64 Million of equity was raised from existing shareholders pursuant to a Shareholder Purchase 

Plan, at the same price per share (A$14.20) as the institutional placement.

– In July 2007 Sonic completed the acquisition of Sunrise Medical Laboratories (Long Island, New York), a high quality, 

high growth practice.

– In September 2007 Sonic completed the acquisition of the Bioscientia Healthcare Group, one of Europe’s largest and 

most prestigious laboratories,  Sonic’s second major transaction in the German laboratory market.

– In December 2007 Sonic completed the acquisition of the outstanding minority interests in the Schottdorf Group in 

Germany.  This facilitates the capture of synergies with Sonic’s other European laboratories. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

Since the end of the financial year, the directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with 

in these financial statements that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of 

those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years, other than as follows:

– On 1 July 2008 Sonic completed the acquisition of 100% of the Labor 28 Group based in Berlin, Germany for a 

purchase price of ~h74 Million.  The initial accounting for the acquisition has been determined only provisionally 

at the date of this report, given the recent settlement date.  Sonic is still in the process of reviewing the acquisition 

balance sheet and identifying assets and liabilities not previously recorded, so as to determine the fair values of 

identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities.  Based on the provisional accounting the indicative fair value 

of net tangible assets acquired is ~h2 Million, with a provisional goodwill value of ~h72 Million.

– On 1 July 2008 Sonic acquired the Laboratory Prof. Krech Group, its second acquisition in Switzerland for a purchase 

price of ~CHF6 Million.  The initial accounting for the acquisition has been determined only provisionally at the date 

of this report, given the recent settlement date.  Sonic is still in the process of reviewing the acquisition balance sheet 

and identifying assets and liabilities not previously recorded, so as to determine the fair values of identifiable assets, 

liabilities, and contingent liabilities.  Based on the provisional accounting the indicative fair value of net tangible 

assets acquired is ~CHF0.4 Million, with a provisional goodwill value of ~CHF5.6 Million.

– On 31 July 2008 Sonic established an additional A$160 Million three year term debt facility with two of its existing 

bankers, to re-establish “headroom” for expansion.

– On 20 August 2008 Sonic’s Directors declared a final dividend of 32 cents per ordinary share payable on 9 October 

2008.  Sonic’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan has been reinstated for this dividend with shareholders holding ~40% of 

Sonic’s ordinary shares electing to participate.  The balance (~$65 Million) of the 2008 final dividend not reinvested 

by shareholders in the DRP has been fully underwritten at an issue price of $12.92.  Shares under the DRP will be 

issued on 9 October 2008 at a price of $12.72.

– On 1 September 2008 Sonic completed the acquisition of 100% of the GLP Medical Group based in Hamburg, Germany 

for a purchase price of ~h30 Million.  Given this acquisition only recently settled, the process of determining the fair 

value of identifiable assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, and the amount of goodwill arising from the acquisition 

has only just commenced.
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Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year (continued)

– On 2 September 2008 Sonic completed the acquisition of 100% of Clinical Laboratories of Hawaii and its associated 

anatomical pathology practice, Pan Pacific Pathologists, for a purchase price of ~US$121 Million.  Given this 

acquisition only recently settled, the process of determining the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities, contingent 

liabilities, and the amount of goodwill arising from the acquisition has only just commenced.

– The Scheme of Arrangement under which Sonic will acquire all of the shares in Independent Practitioner Network 

Limited (“IPN”) which it does not already own became effective on 16 September 2008, having been approved by 

IPN shareholders and the Federal Court of Australia, and will be implemented on 30 September 2008.  Sonic will pay 

~A$75.6 Million for the shares plus ~A$2.4 Million to cancel options over unissued IPN shares.

Likely developments and expected results of operations

Sonic’s main focus during the 2009 and future financial years will be to continue to grow shareholder value through 

both acquisitions and organic growth, and by extracting efficiencies from its existing businesses, particularly in our 

three major markets of Australia, Europe and the USA.

Sonic continues to target further acquisitions in the US and Europe and expects significant growth in these large 

fragmented laboratory markets over the coming years.

On 21 August 2008 Sonic provided guidance to the market in relation to forecast results for the 2009 financial year as 

follows:

Revenue growth >15%*

EPS growth >10%*

* above 2008 financial year figures

The guidance is subject to assumptions regarding foreign exchange and interest rate movements and excludes any 

acquisitions not already announced.

Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of operations have 

not been included in this report because the directors believe it would prejudice Sonic’s competitive position in the 

market place.
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Directors’ report (continued)

information on directors

(a) Directors’ profiles

Barry patterson
Chairman

A.S.M.M., M.I.M.M., F.A.I.C.D.

Mr Patterson is a qualified engineer and has a corporate mining background, but in more  

recent years has held directorial positions in a number of both public and private companies.   

Mr Patterson is considered to be an independent director and is the chairman of both the 

Remuneration committee and the nominations committee, and is a member of the Audit 

committee.  Mr Patterson is currently chairman and a non-executive director of Silex Systems 

Limited (since 1992). 

Dr colin Goldschmidt
Managing Director

M.B., B.Ch., F.R.C.P.A., F.A.I.C.D.

dr Goldschmidt was the Medical director of douglass Hanly Moir Pathology before he became 

the Managing director of Sonic Healthcare Limited and its subsidiaries in 1993.   He joined the 

company after completing his Australian Pathology Fellowship training in Sydney in 1986.  dr 

Goldschmidt is a member of the Risk Management committee and the nominations committee.  

dr Goldschmidt is currently a non-executive director of Silex Systems Limited (since 1992), a non-

executive director of independent Practitioner network Limited (“iPn”) (since August 2005) and a 

member of the iPn nominations committee, and was formerly a non-executive director of SciGen 

Ltd from 1999 to october 2005.

christopher Wilks
Finance Director

B.Comm. (Univ Melb), A.S.A., F.C.I.S., F.A.I.C.D.

Mr Wilks has a background in chartered accounting and investment banking.  He was previously 

a partner in a private investment bank and has held directorships for a number of public 

companies.  Mr Wilks has been a director of Sonic since 1989 and is the chairman of the Risk 

Management committee.  He is a non-executive director of iPn (since August 2005), an executive 

director of Silex Systems Limited (since 1988), and was formerly a non-executive director of SciGen 

Ltd from 1999 to october 2005.

peter campbell
F.C.A., F.T.I.A., F.A.I.C.D.

Mr campbell is a chartered Accountant with his own practice based in Sydney.  He is a Fellow 

of the institute of chartered Accountants in Australia, the taxation institute of Australia and the 

Australian institute of company directors.  He is a Registered company Auditor.  Mr campbell 

is considered to be an independent director and is the chairman of the Audit committee and a 

member of both the Remuneration committee and the nominations committee.  Mr campbell is 

currently a non-executive director of Silex Systems Limited (since 1996), Admerex Limited (since 

January 2007) and also of QRxPharma Limited (since April 2007).  
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(a) Directors’ profiles (continued)

Dr philip Dubois
M.B., B.S., F.R.C.R., F.R.A.N.Z.C.R, F.A.I.C.D.

dr dubois is chairman of the Sonic imaging executive committee and is chairman and ceo of 

Queensland X-Ray.  A neuroradiologist and nuclear imaging specialist, he is currently an Associate 

Professor of Radiology at university of Queensland Medical School.  He has served on numerous 

government and craft group bodies.  He is currently Vice-President of the Australian diagnostic 

imaging Association (AdiA), and a councillor and the Radiology craft Group Representative of 

the Australian Medical Association (AMA).  dr dubois is a member of Sonic’s Risk Management 

committee.  dr dubois is a non-executive director of Magnetica Limited (since december 2004).

colin Jackson
O.A.M., F.C.P.A., F.C.A., F.A.I.C.D.

Mr Jackson is a senior executive director of Sonic Healthcare, with a background in professional 

accounting practice and laboratory management.  He plays an active role at Sonic corporate level 

and, as Vice-President of the Australian Association of Pathology Practices, represents Sonic at 

national industry level.  Mr Jackson was the chief executive officer of diagnostic Services Pty 

Limited (Sonic’s tasmanian practice) for 11 years to 2006.  He is a Fellow of the Australian Society 

of certified Practising Accountants, the Australian institute of company directors and the institute 

of chartered Accountants in Australia.  Mr Jackson is a director and treasurer of the Guide dog 

Association of Victoria and a member of the Winston churchill Fellowship trust selection committee 

in tasmania.  He has until recently been a director of the tasmanian Symphony orchestra and 

is now chairman of the tasmanian Symphony orchestra Foundation Limited.  Mr Jackson was 

appointed as chairman and non-executive director of iPn in August 2004, and was a member of 

the iPn Audit committee from August 2004 until June 2006.  He is currently chairman of the iPn 

nominations committee and Remuneration committee.

Lou panaccio
B.Ec, C.A., M.A.I.C.D.

Mr Panaccio is a chartered accountant with strong management experience in business and 

healthcare services.  He is currently Managing director of the Monash iVF Group, non-executive 

chairman of Health networks Australia, non-executive chairman of cPW Group and a non-

executive director of the inner eastern community Health Service in Victoria.  He was formerly 

a non-executive director of Primelife corporation Limited from 2001 until november 2005.  Mr 

Panaccio was the chief executive officer and an executive director of Melbourne Pathology for 

ten years to 2001.  Mr Panaccio is considered to be an independent director and is a member of 

the Audit committee. 
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(a) Directors’ profiles (continued)

Dr Hugh scotton
M.B., B.S., F.R.A.N.Z.C.R., D.D.U., F.A.I.C.D.

dr Scotton trained in radiology in Adelaide and Brisbane prior to entering private practice in the 

Hunter Valley in 1972.  He was chairman of Pacific Medical imaging, incorporating radiology 

groups in the Hunter Valley, Sydney and illawarra from 1999 until the acquisition of the group  

in 2001 by Sonic.  Prior to the formation of Pacific Medical imaging, dr Scotton was chairman  

of the Hunter imaging Group, the largest imaging practice in the Hunter Valley.  He currently 

retains that position.

(b) company secretary

paul Alexander
B.ec, c.A., F.Fin.

Mr Alexander has been the Group Financial controller of Sonic Healthcare Limited since 1997 

and Sonic’s company Secretary since 2001.  Prior to joining Sonic, Mr Alexander gained 10 years 

experience in professional accounting practice, mainly with Price Waterhouse, and was also 

Financial controller and company Secretary of a subsidiary of a multinational company for two 

years.  Mr Alexander is a non-executive director of iPn (since August 2005) and a member of the 

iPn Audit committee (since June 2006).

(c) Directors’ interests in shares and options as at 29 september 2008

Director’s name class of shares Number of shares interest Number of options

B.S. Patterson ordinary 3,816,646 Beneficially -

dr c.S. Goldschmidt ordinary 300,000 Personally 4,000,000

ordinary 200,000 Beneficially -

c.d. Wilks ordinary 198,750 Personally 2,300,000

ordinary 273,000 Beneficially -

R.P. campbell ordinary - - -

dr P.J. dubois ordinary 25,350 Beneficially -

c.J. Jackson ordinary 490,940 Personally -

L.J. Panaccio ordinary - - -

dr H.F. Scotton ordinary 115,399 Personally -

ordinary 65,795 Beneficially -
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Meetings of directors

The numbers of meetings of the company’s Board of directors and of each board committee held during the year ended 

30 June 2008, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

Full meetings of 
directors

Meetings of committees

audit remuneration risk Management nominations

number 
of 

meetings 
attended

number 
of 

meetings 
held

number 
of 

meetings 
attended

number 
of 

meetings 
held

number 
of 

meetings 
attended

number 
of 

meetings 
held

number 
of 

meetings 
attended

number 
of 

meetings 
held

number 
of 

meetings 
attended

number 
of 

meetings 
held

B.S. Patterson 7 10 4 4 1 1 - - 1 1

Dr C.S. Goldschmidt 10 10 - - - - 3 3 1 1

C.D. Wilks 10 10 - - - - 3 3 - -

R.P. Campbell 9 10 4 4 1 1 - - 1 1

Dr P.J. Dubois 10 10 - - - - 3 3 - -

C.J.  Jackson 10 10 - - - - - - - -

L.J. Panaccio 8 10 4 4 - - - - - -

Dr H.F. Scotton 9 10 - - - - - - - -

insurance of officers

During the financial year, the company entered into agreements to indemnify all directors of the company that are 

named above and current and former directors of the company and its controlled entities against all liabilities to 

persons (other than the company or related entity) which arise out of the performance of their normal duties as director 

or executive officer unless the liability relates to conduct involving lack of good faith.  The company has agreed to 

indemnify the directors and executive officers against all costs and expenses incurred in defending an action that falls 

within the scope of the indemnity and any resulting payments.

The directors’ and officers’ liability insurance provides cover against all costs and expenses involved in defending 

legal actions and any resulting payments arising from a liability to persons (other than the company or related entity) 

incurred in their position as a director or executive officer unless the conduct involves a wilful breach of duty or an 

improper use of inside information or position to gain advantage.  The insurance policy does not allow disclosure of the 

nature of the liabilities insured against or the premium paid under the policy.  

environmental regulation

The Group is subject to environmental regulation in respect of the transport and disposal of medical waste.  The Group 

contracts with reputable, licensed businesses to dispose of waste and there have been no investigations or claims 

during the financial year.  The directors believe that the Group has complied with all environmental regulations. 
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non-audit services

The company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the 

auditor’s expertise and experience with the Group are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor of the Group and Parent Company (PricewaterhouseCoopers), 

and the auditor of Independent Practitioner Network Limited (Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu) for non-audit services provided 

during the year are set out below. 

The Board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the audit committee, 

is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for 

auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the 

auditor did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.  In the opinion of the 

directors none of the services provided undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in 

a management or a decision-making capacity for the company, acting as advocate for the company or jointly sharing 

economic risk and rewards.

A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set 

out on page 33.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for non-audit services provided by the auditors of the Group 

and the Parent Company, and the auditor of Independent Practitioner Network Limited.

2008
$

2007
$

pricewaterhouseCoopers – australian firm
Accounting and advisory services - 45,700

related practices of pricewaterhouseCoopers australian firm  
(including overseas pricewaterhouseCoopers firms)
Taxation compliance services - 34,534

Deloitte touche tohmatsu – australian firm
Accounting and advisory services 165,000 -
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share options

Information on share options is detailed in Note 7 – Share options.

rounding of amounts

The company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities & Investments Commission, 

relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the directors’ report.  Amounts in the directors’ report have been rounded off 

in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

remuneration report

The directors of Sonic Healthcare Limited present the Remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2008 in accordance 

with section 300A of the Corporations Act.

Sonic Healthcare Limited’s remuneration packages are structured and set at levels that are intended to attract, 

motivate and retain directors and executives capable of leading and managing the Group’s operations, and to align 

remuneration with the creation of value for shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee, consisting of 2 non-executive independent directors, makes specific recommendations to 

the Board on remuneration packages and other terms of employment for the Managing Director and Finance Director 

and advises the Board in relation to equity based incentive schemes for other employees.

Sonic Healthcare Limited’s remuneration policy links the remuneration of the Managing Director and the Finance 

Director to Sonic’s performance through the award of conditional entitlements.  These conditional entitlements (cash 

bonuses, share and share option grants) are dependant on the earnings per share performance of the Group and thus 

align reward with the creation of value for shareholders.

Remuneration and other terms of employment for other executives are reviewed annually by the Managing Director 

having regard to performance against goals set at the start of the year, performance of the entity or function of the 

Group for which they have responsibility, relevant comparative information and independent expert advice.  As well 

as a base salary, remuneration packages include superannuation, performance-related bonuses, share and option 

grants, and fringe benefits.

Cash bonuses and equity grants to other executive directors and employees are made solely at the discretion of 

the Managing Director, the Remuneration Committee and the Board of directors based on individual and company 

performance.  These bonuses and option grants reward the creation of value for shareholders.

Remuneration of non-executive directors is determined by the board within the maximum amount approved by the 

shareholders. At a General Meeting on 31 July 2001 shareholders approved a maximum amount of $800,000 be 

available as remuneration for the services of the non-executive directors.  Following a review of market practice and 

non-executive director fees for entities of similar size and complexity, the board resolved that with effect from 1 June 

2006, the non-executive director fee of $50,000 per annum, which had remained unchanged for over seven years, be 

increased to $80,000 per annum plus $10,000 per annum for each board committee upon which the director serves.  

Options are not issued and bonuses are not payable to non-executive directors.

Other than contributions to superannuation funds during employment periods and notice periods under normal 

employment law and in certain executive service contracts, the Group does not contract to provide retirement benefits 

to directors or executives.
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performance of the group

Sonic Healthcare Limited’s total shareholder return over the five year period to June 2008 was 167% (2007: 245%).  

This measure is calculated as the increase in share price over that period plus the dividends declared for those years 

(grossed up for franking credits) as a percentage of the share price at the start of the five year period.  Earnings over 

the five year period were as follows:

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Compound 
average 

annual growth 
rate*

Core earnings per share (cps) 35.1 40.2 48.9 58.6 65.5 73.5 15.9%

Net profit attributable to members 

($’000)** 92,434 108,212 135,353 172,029 198,072 245,116 21.5%

* The compound average annual growth rate is calculated over the five year period shown.

** Net profit attributable to members and core earnings per share have been restated to reflect the application of AIFRS 

in prior periods.

Key management personnel

(a) Directors

The following persons were directors of Sonic Healthcare Limited during the financial year:

Chairman – non-executive
B.S. Patterson

Executive directors
Dr C.S. Goldschmidt Managing Director

C.D. Wilks Finance Director

Dr P.J. Dubois

C.J. Jackson

Dr H.F. Scotton

Non-executive directors
R.P. Campbell

L.J. Panaccio
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(b) other key management personnel

The following person also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 

Group, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

name position
D. Schultz President and Chief Operating Officer, Sonic Healthcare USA, Inc.

All of the above persons were also key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2007. 

The Group operates via a decentralised federated structure whereby the Chief Executive Officers of individual operating 

entities have delegated authority for their local operations.  The Group’s Australian and New Zealand pathology and 

radiology activities are coordinated and controlled through the Pathology Sonic Executive Committee and the Imaging 

Sonic Executive Committee (“PSEC” and “ISEC” respectively).  Dr C.S. Goldschmidt is Chairman of PSEC and a member of 

ISEC, Dr P.J. Dubois is Chairman of ISEC and C.D. Wilks is a member of both PSEC and ISEC.  C.J. Jackson is an Executive 

Director of Sonic who is a member of PSEC, represents Sonic in industry matters and plays a role in Sonic’s New Zealand 

operations, procurement and various projects and initiatives.

Due to the prominent executive roles performed by Dr C.S. Goldschmidt, Dr P.J. Dubois, C.J. Jackson and C.D. Wilks, 

management does not believe there are any other executives within the Group in the current or prior financial year 

meeting the definition of “key management personnel” other than D. Schultz, President and Chief Operating Officer of 

Sonic Healthcare USA, Inc., who has authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the Group’s  

US operations.
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(c) remuneration of directors and executives

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of the key management personnel and other 

executives of the Group are set out below:

12 months to 30 June 2008

name
salary & fees 

$
other benefits† 

$
Cash bonus 

$
superannuation 

$

Long service 
leave accrual 

$

Dr C.S. Goldschmidt 
Managing Director 604,371 124,500 735,000 21,129 7,153

C.D. Wilks 
Finance Director 446,257 - 396,900 13,129 48,375

Dr P.J. Dubois 
Director 442,738 8,228 150,000 50,000 -

C.J. Jackson 
Director 444,853 - - 20,147 (40,585)

Dr H.F. Scotton 
Director 326,481 - - 102,328 -

B.S. Patterson 
Chairman  
and non-executive Director 100,916 - - 9,084 -

R.P. Campbell 
Non-executive Director 75,687 - - 34,313 -

L.J. Panaccio 
Non-executive Director 82,568 - - 7,432 -

D. Schultz *^ 
President and COO 
Sonic Healthcare USA, Inc. 362,359 3,510 329,490 27,896 -

D. Byrne**^ 
CEO 
The Doctors Laboratory 446,528 61,936 1,022,987 343,622 -

Dr R. Prudo**^ 
Executive Chairman 
The Doctors Laboratory 350,691 77,258 708,165 470,923 -

G. Schottdorf***^ 
CEO 
Schottdorf Group 833,333 29,349 218,723 - -

Dr M.W. Parmenter^ 
Managing Director 
Independent Practitioner 
Network Limited 511,871 - 147,000 13,129 -

† Other benefits include fringe benefits tax.
* D. Schultz is employed by Sonic Healthcare USA, Inc. and is remunerated in US dollars.
** D. Byrne and Dr R. Prudo are employed by The Doctors Laboratory Limited (TDL) in the United Kingdom.  They are remunerated 

in British Pounds.  The bonuses relate to securing the NHS Ealing contract amongst other financial incentives.
*** G. Schottdorf is employed by the Schottdorf Group in Germany and is remunerated in Euros.
^ Denotes one of the five highest paid executives of the Group as required to be disclosed under the Corporations Act 2001.
 The Parent Company does not have any executives as defined under the Corporations Act 2001.
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(c) remuneration of directors and executives (continued)

12 months to 30 June 2007

name
salary & fees 

$
other benefits† 

$
Cash bonus 

$
superannuation 

$

Long service 
leave accrual 

$

Dr C.S. Goldschmidt 
Managing Director 595,917 133,397 655,000 20,686 23,324

C.D. Wilks  
Finance Director 447,315 - 353,700 12,685 -

Dr P.J. Dubois 
Director 441,195 9,605 50,000 50,000 -

C.J. Jackson 
Director 435,571 2,987 60,000 18,010 (6,405)

Dr H.F. Scotton 
Director 319,784 - - 109,242 -

B.S. Patterson 
Chairman 
and non-executive Director 100,842 - - 9,158 -

R.P. Campbell 
Non-executive Director - - - 110,000 -

L.J. Panaccio 
Non-executive Director 82,519 - - 7,481 -

D. Schultz * 
President and COO 
Sonic Healthcare USA, Inc. 413,118 4,002 375,645 31,803 -

D. Byrne**^ 
CEO 
The Doctors Laboratory 494,140 67,508 555,590 144,163 -

Dr R. Prudo**^ 
Executive Chairman 
The Doctors Laboratory 278,832 80,213 282,891 468,987 -

Dr B. Schottdorf***^ 
Executive Chairman 
Schottdorf Group 961,973 28,540 - - -

G. Schottdorf***^ 
CEO 
Schottdorf Group 843,573 28,542 - - -

Dr M.W. Parmenter^ 
Managing Director 
Independent Practitioner 
Network Limited 486,871 - 375,000 13,129 -

† Other benefits include fringe benefits tax.
* D. Schultz is employed by Sonic Healthcare USA, Inc. and is remunerated in US dollars. 
** D. Byrne and Dr R. Prudo are employed by The Doctors Laboratory Limited (TDL) in the United Kingdom.  They are remunerated 

in British Pounds.
*** Dr B. Schottdorf and G. Schottdorf are employed by the Schottdorf Group in Germany.  They are remunerated in Euros.
^ Denotes one of the five highest paid executives of the Group as required to be disclosed under the Corporations Act 2001.
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(c) remuneration of directors and executives (continued)

Under the Executive Incentive Plan for Dr C.S. Goldschmidt and C.D. Wilks, ordinary shares and options over unissued 

ordinary shares of Sonic Healthcare Limited were issuable upon the achievement of performance conditions (as set 

out in (d) below).  The fair values of the options and shares at the time of grant have been determined and have been 

allocated equally over the service periods up to the vesting dates.  In addition to the remuneration disclosed above, 

the calculated values of shares and options allocated to Dr C.S. Goldschmidt for the 12 month period to 30 June 2008 

were $261,025 and $4,995,949 respectively (2007: $203,961 and $3,946,493).  In addition to the remuneration disclosed 

above, the calculated values of shares and options allocated to C.D. Wilks for the 12 month period to 30 June 2008 were 

$140,301 and $2,697,812 respectively (2007: $109,629 and $2,131,106).  Of the options issuable under the Executive 

Incentive Plan, the maximum total value of the options yet to vest for Dr C.S. Goldschmidt is $7,813,986, and for C.D. 

Wilks $4,219,552.  These maximum values represent the fair value of the options, determined at grant date, which are 

yet to be expensed.  Of the total options issuable under the Executive Incentive Plan, 30% had vested at 30 June 2008.  

No options have been forfeited to date under the Executive Incentive Plan.

In addition to the remuneration disclosed above, the calculated value of options over unissued ordinary IPN shares 

allocated to Dr M.W. Parmenter for the 12 month period to 30 June 2008 was $195,785 (2007: $34,125).  The fair value 

of the options at the time of grant has been determined and has been allocated equally over the service periods up to 

the vesting dates.

Cash bonuses, ordinary shares and options over unissued ordinary shares of Sonic Healthcare Limited are performance 

related components of Dr C.S. Goldschmidt’s and C.D. Wilks’ remuneration.  In aggregate, these components make 

up 89% of Dr C.S. Goldschmidt’s remuneration for the 12 months to 30 June 2008 (2007: 86%), and 86% of C.D. Wilks’ 

remuneration for the 12 months to 30 June 2008 (2007: 85%).  Cash bonuses are performance related components of  

Dr P.J. Dubois’ and C.J. Jackson’s remuneration.  These components make up 23% of Dr P.J. Dubois’ remuneration for 

the 12 months to 30 June 2008 (2007: 9%), and 0% of C.J. Jackson’s remuneration for the 12 months to 30 June 2008 

(2007: 12%).

Options over unissued ordinary shares in Sonic Healthcare Limited accounted for 59% of Dr C.S. Goldschmidt’s 

remuneration for the 12 months to 30 June 2008.  Options issued to Dr C.S. Goldschmidt during the 12 months to 30 June 

2008 had an aggregate fair value of $3,990,000 (2007: $3,940,000).  Options over unissued ordinary shares in Sonic 

Healthcare Limited accounted for 58% of C.D. Wilks’ remuneration for the 12 months to 30 June 2008.  Options issued to 

C.D. Wilks during the 12 months to 30 June 2008 had an aggregate fair value of $2,154,600 (2007: $2,127,600). 

The relative proportions of conditional entitlements (including options) awarded to total remuneration for executives for 

the 12 months to 30 June 2008 were; D. Schultz 46% (2007: 47%), D. Byrne 55% (2007: 44%), Dr R. Prudo 44% (2007: 25%), 

G. Schottdorf 20% (2007: 0%), M.W. Parmenter 40% (2007: 45%), and in 2007 Dr B. Schottdorf 0%.

During the financial year 20,000 ordinary shares and 1,000,000 options over unissued ordinary shares in Sonic Healthcare 

Limited were issued to Dr C.S. Goldschmidt, and 10,750 shares and 540,000 options were issued to C.D. Wilks, under the 

Executive Incentive Plan.  These performance related issues represented the short term and long term incentive awards 

in relation to the 2007 financial year.  Since the end of the financial year, but prior to the date of this report, identical 

issues of ordinary shares and options over unissued ordinary shares have been made to Dr C.S. Goldschmidt and C.D. 

Wilks under the Executive Incentive Plan.  These performance related issues represented the short term and long term 

incentive awards in relation to the 2008 financial year.

The maximum number of shares and options issuable in future years under the Executive Incentive Plan is nil shares 

and nil options.
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(c) remuneration of directors and executives (continued)

The remuneration amounts disclosed relating to shares and options issued under the Executive Incentive Plan represent 

the assessed fair values at the date they were granted allocated equally over the service periods up to the vesting 

dates.  Fair values for these shares and options have been determined using a pricing model consistent with the Black 

Scholes methodology that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance 

criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the option, the current price and expected price volatility 

of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.  Sonic has 

applied no discount to the calculated fair value of these options for service continuity risk.

The assessed fair value at grant date of IPN options granted to Dr M.W. Parmenter is allocated equally over the 

period from grant date to vesting date, and the amount is noted above.  Fair values at grant date are independently 

determined using a binomial approximation option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term 

of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, 

the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.  IPN has applied a discount to the 

calculated fair value of these options for service continuity risk.

(d) service agreements

None of the directors of Sonic Healthcare Limited has a service contract.  Rather the terms and entitlements of employment 

are governed by normal employment law.

Remuneration arrangements for Dr C.S. Goldschmidt and C.D. Wilks were revised in February 2004, with effect from  

1 July 2003, following a detailed review by the Remuneration Committee and subsequent approval by shareholders 

at the 2004 and 2005 Annual General Meetings.  The key terms of the revised arrangements, (the “Executive Incentive 

Plan”) which ran for 5 consecutive years until 30 June 2008, are set out below.  The Remuneration Committee is 

currently in the process of developing new remuneration and incentive structures (including taking external advice) 

for Dr C.S. Goldschmidt and C.D. Wilks to apply for the 2009 and future financial years.

Dr C.s. goldschmidt
•	 Base	salary,	inclusive	of	superannuation	of	$750,000	per	annum.

Short term incentives:

•	 Cash	bonus,	paid	half	yearly	based	on	a	1,000,000	multiple	of	earnings	per	share	for	each	6	month	period.

•	 Issue	of	20,000	ordinary	shares	per	annum	if	core	earnings	per	share	were	at	least	10%	higher	than	the	previous	

year.  If core earnings per share growth fell below 10%, no shares were to be issued.  However, if core earnings per 

share growth in the subsequent year exceeded 10% and made up for the previous year’s shortfall, then the prior 

year’s shares that were foregone would be issued.

Long term incentive:

•	 Issue	 of	 1,000,000	 options	 per	 annum	 exercisable	 at	 $7.50	 (Sonic’s	 share	 price	 at	 the	 time	 (February	 2004)	 the	

arrangements were agreed between the Remuneration Committee and the Executive Directors) if core earnings per 

share increased at least 10% (compounded) each year over a base set for the 2004 financial year of $0.42.  If this 

growth was not achieved in one year but was made up in the subsequent year, then the previously forfeited options 

would be issued.  Up to 50% of the options may be exercised 24 months from the date of issue and 100% may be 

exercised 36 months from the date of issue.  The options expire after 60 months from the date of issue.  These options 

are an equity settled share based payment.
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(d) service agreements (continued)

C.D. Wilks
•	 Base	salary,	inclusive	of	superannuation	of	$460,000	per	annum.

Short term incentives:

•	 Cash	bonus,	paid	half	yearly	based	on	a	540,000	multiple	of	earnings	per	share	for	each	6	month	period.

•	 Issue	of	10,750	ordinary	shares	per	annum	if	core	earnings	per	share	were	at	least	10%	higher	than	the	previous	

year.  If core earnings per share growth fell below 10%, no shares were to be issued.  However, if core earnings per 

share growth in the subsequent year exceeded 10% and made up for the previous year’s shortfall, then the prior 

year’s shares that were foregone would be issued.

Long term incentive:

•	 Issue	 of	 540,000	 options	 per	 annum	 exercisable	 at	 $7.50	 (Sonic’s	 share	 price	 at	 the	 time	 (February	 2004)	 the	

arrangements were agreed between the Remuneration Committee and the Executive Directors) if core earnings per 

share increased at least 10% (compounded) each year over a base set for the 2004 financial year of $0.42.  If this 

growth was not achieved in one year but was made up in the subsequent year, then the previously forfeited options 

would be issued.  Up to 50% of the options may be exercised 24 months from the date of issue and 100% may be 

exercised 36 months from the date of issue.  The options expire after 60 months from the date of issue.  These options 

are an equity settled share based payment.

Service agreements for other executives are detailed below.

D. schultz
No formal service contract exists.  The terms and entitlements of employment are governed by normal employment 

law.  The key terms are as follows:

•	 Base	salary	of	US$340,000.

•	 Cash	bonus	arrangement	 (capped	at	100%	of	base	 salary)	based	on	 the	 satisfaction	of	performance	conditions	

relating to the earnings of the Group’s US operations.

D. Byrne
Following the expiry of the initial term of the service contract established on the acquisition of TDL, a rolling service 

contract prevails with the following key terms:

•	 Base	salary	of	£229,000	per	annum,	plus	superannuation	and	other	benefits	to	be	reviewed	annually.

•	 Cash	bonus	arrangement	based	on	the	satisfaction	of	performance	conditions	relating	to	the	earnings	of	TDL	(capped	

at 200% of base salary).

•	 Twelve	month	notice	period	by	either	party.

Dr r. prudo
Following the expiry of the initial term of the service contract established on the acquisition of TDL, a rolling service 

contract prevails with the following key terms:

•	 Base	salary	of	£252,000	per	annum,	plus	superannuation	and	other	benefits	to	be	reviewed	annually.

•	 Cash	bonus	arrangement	based	on	the	satisfaction	of	performance	conditions	relating	to	the	earnings	of	TDL	(capped	

at 200% of base salary).

•	 Twelve	month	notice	period	by	either	party.
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remuneration report (continued)

(d) service agreements (continued)

g. schottdorf
Following the acquisition of the Schottdorf Group, a rolling service contract was established with the following  

key terms:

•	 Base	salary	of	t508,000.

•	 Cash	bonus	arrangement	(capped	at	t330,000) based on the satisfaction of performance conditions relating to the 

earnings of the Schottdorf Group.

•	 Twelve	month	notice	period	by	either	party.

Dr M.W. parmenter
Following Dr M.W. Parmenter’s appointment as Managing Director of IPN (9 January 2006), a rolling service agreement 

was established with the following key terms:

•	 Base	salary,	inclusive	of	superannuation,	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2008	of	$525,000	to	be	reviewed	annually	by	

the Remuneration Committee of IPN.

•	 Notice	period	of	3	months	to	be	provided	if	employee	terminates	and	notice	period	of	6	months	to	be	provided	if	

employer terminates.

•	 In	the	event	that	the	position	is	made	redundant	as	a	result	of	Sonic	acquiring	100%	of	the	issued	share	capital	of	

IPN, the employee is entitled to one month’s salary for each completed year of service.

(e) share trading policy

Under the Sonic Share Trading Policy, all Sonic Healthcare employees are prohibited from buying or selling Sonic 

Healthcare shares at any time they are aware of any material price sensitive information that has not been made 

public, and are reminded of the laws against “insider trading”.

Certain “Designated Officers”, including all directors and senior executives, are also prohibited from trading in periods 

other than in 8 week windows following the release of half year and full year results, and 2 week periods following 

Sonic Healthcare’s provision to the market at any time of definitive guidance regarding the next result to be released.  

Exceptions to this prohibition can be approved by the Chairman (for other directors) or the Managing Director (for all 

other employees) in circumstances of financial hardship.  All trading by Designated Officers must be notified to the 

Company Secretary.  Prohibitions also apply to trading in financial instruments related to Sonic’s shares and to trading 

in the shares of other entities using information obtained through employment with Sonic.  In addition the Managing 

Director and Finance Director are required to obtain approval from the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 

before selling any shares.

A recent policy addition prohibits Designated Officers from entering into transactions in products which limit the 

economic risk of participating in unvested entitlements under any equity based remuneration schemes.  Designated 

Officers are required to commit to this by signing the Share Trading Policy and will forfeit their equity reward should 

they be found to be in breach.

All Sonic Healthcare share dealings by directors are promptly notified to the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) in 

accordance with Sonic’s Continuous Disclosure obligations.
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This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Dr C.S. Goldschmidt

Director

C.D. Wilks

Director

Sydney

30 September 2008
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PricewaterhouseCoopers

ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2

201 Sussex Street

GPO BOX 2650

SYDNEY NSW 1171

DX 77 Sydney

Australia

www.pwc.com/au

Telephone +61 2 8266 0000

Facsimile + 61 2 8266 9999

As lead auditor for the audit of Sonic Healthcare Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008, I declare that to the best of 

my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; 

and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Sonic Healthcare Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

B K Hunter

Partner Sydney

PricewaterhouseCoopers 30 September 2008

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation



  Sonic Healthcare Annual Report 200834

Corporate governanCe stateMent

The board of Sonic Healthcare continues to place great importance on the governance of the company, which it 

believes is vital to its well-being and success.  There are two elements to the governance of companies:  performance 

and conformance.  Both are important, but it is critical that focus on conformance does not detract from the principal 

function of a business, which is to undertake prudent activities to:

– generate rewards for shareholders who invest their capital,

– provide services of value to customers, and

– provide meaningful employment for employees,

and to do so in a way that contributes positively to the community.

In this framework, it is crucial that shareholders have clear visibility of the actions of the Group and that they can rely 

on reported financial information.  The Sonic board has committed itself to provide relevant, accurate information to 

shareholders on a timely basis and has adopted policies and procedures designed to ensure that the Group’s financial 

reports are true and fair, meet high standards of disclosure integrity and provide all material information necessary to 

understand the Group’s financial performance.

Sonic’s board and management are committed to governance which recognises that all aspects of the Group’s 

operations are conducted ethically, responsibly and with the highest standards of integrity.  The board has adopted 

practices and policies designed to achieve these aims.  In March 2003, the ASX Corporate Governance Council 

published its principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations (Recommendations). In 

August 2007,  the ASX Corporate Governance Council published its second edition of Corporate Governance Principles 

and Recommendations (Revised Recommendations) to apply to financial years commencing on or after 1 January 

2008. Sonic has applied the original Recommendations during the 2008 financial year, but has also taken steps during 

the year towards compliance with the Revised Recommendations from 1 July 2008.  Sonic’s board continues to review 

and improve Sonic’s compliance with the Recommendations, implementing change in a prudent manner.  Sonic’s 

website (www.sonichealthcare.com) includes a Corporate Governance section which sets out the information required 

by the Recommendations plus other relevant information, including copies of all Policies, Charters and Codes referred 

to herein.

Sonic’s Code of Ethics and Core Values (discussed below) set out the fundamental principles that govern the way that all 

Sonic people conduct themselves.  Sonic’s Core Values apply equally to every employee of Sonic and were formulated 

with significant input from Sonic’s staff.  They have been embraced throughout the Group.  Sonic’s Core Values are:

– Commit to Service Excellence

 To willingly serve all those with whom we deal with unsurpassed excellence.

– Treat each other with Respect & Honesty

 To grow a workplace where trust, team spirit and equity are an integral part of everything we do.

– Demonstrate Responsibility & Accountability

 To set an example, to take ownership of each situation to the best of our ability and to seek help when needed.

– Be Enthusiastic about Continuous Improvement

 To never be complacent, to recognise limitations and opportunities for ourselves and processes and to learn  

through these.

– Maintain Confidentiality

 With regard to patient records and all information pertaining to patients as well as other professional and  

commercial issues.
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A description of the company’s main corporate governance practices is set out below.  All these practices, unless 

otherwise stated, were in place throughout the year.  Any issues of current non-compliance with the Recommendations 

are specifically noted and explained.

1. Board of directors

(a) role of the board

The Board of directors is accountable to shareholders for the performance of the company and the Group and is 

responsible for the corporate governance practices of the Group.  The board’s principal objective is to increase 

shareholder value while ensuring that the Group’s overall activities are properly managed.

Sonic’s corporate governance practices provide the structure which enables the board’s principal objective to be 

achieved, whilst ensuring that the business and affairs of the Group are conducted ethically and in accordance with 

the law.

The board’s overall responsibilities include:

– providing strategic direction and approving corporate strategies,

– monitoring management and financial performance and reporting,

– monitoring and ensuring the maintenance of adequate risk management controls and reporting mechanisms, 

and

– ensuring the business is conducted ethically and transparently.

The board delegates responsibility for day-to-day management of the business to the Managing Director and senior 

executives.  The Managing Director also oversees the implementation of strategies approved by the board.  The board 

uses a number of committees to support it in matters that require more intensive review and involvement.  Details of 

the board committees are provided below.

As part of its commitment to good corporate governance, the board regularly reviews the practices and standards 

governing the board’s composition, independence and effectiveness, the accountability and compensation of directors 

(and senior executives) and the board’s responsibility for the stewardship of the Group.

The role and responsibilities of the board, the functions reserved for the board and those delegated to management 

have been formalised in the Sonic Board Charter.
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1. Board of directors (continued)

(b) Composition of the board

The directors of the company in office at the date of this statement are:

name age

term of 
office 

(Years) position expertise Committees

Mr Barry Patterson 67 15 Chairman 

Non-Executive, 

independent 

Director

Company Management Chairman of 

Remuneration 

and Nominations 

Committees, member of 

Audit Committee

Dr Colin Goldschmidt 54 15 Managing 

Director

Healthcare Industry and 

Company Management

Member of Risk 

Management 

and Nominations 

Committees

Mr Chris Wilks 50 18 Finance Director Finance, Accounting, 

Banking, Secretarial 

and Company 

Management

Chairman of Risk 

Management 

Committee

Mr Peter Campbell 63 15 Non-Executive, 

independent 

Director

Finance and 

Accounting, Computing 

and Company 

Management

Chairman of Audit 

Committee, member 

of Remuneration 

and Nominations 

Committees

Dr Philip Dubois 62 7 Executive 

Director

Radiology Industry and 

Company Management

Member of Risk 

Management 

Committee

Mr Colin Jackson 60 8 Executive 

Director

Finance, Pathology 

Industry and Company 

Management

Mr Lou Panaccio 51 3 Non-Executive, 

independent 

Director

Finance, Pathology 

Industry and Company 

Management

Member of Audit 

Committee

Dr Hugh Scotton 66 7 Executive 

Director

Radiology Industry and 

Company Management
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1. Board of directors (continued)

(b) Composition of the board (continued)

The composition of Sonic’s board is consistent with the principle of medical management and leadership, which has 

been a core strategy of Sonic since 1992.  Sonic’s Managing Director is a qualified pathologist, and the board also 

includes two radiologists, ensuring that it has the capacity to understand complex medical issues and be in close 

touch with the medical marketplace.  The presence of medical practitioners on Sonic’s board also gives comfort both to 

referring doctors (Sonic’s customers) and to owners of diagnostic practices which Sonic seeks to acquire.  This strategy 

has resulted in a board which has a relatively high proportion of executive directors.

Dr Dubois, Mr Jackson and Dr Scotton were appointed to the board following acquisitions of practices in which they 

held leadership positions.  Their presence on the board has played an important role in consolidating several of the 

larger independent practices acquired by Sonic into a cohesive group.

Sonic’s non-executive directors, including the Chairman, are considered independent and perform major roles in the 

board committees. 

For the reasons described above, Sonic does not comply with ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendation 

2.1:  “A majority of the board should be independent directors”.  Due to the importance to Sonic of medical leadership 

and representation of major medical practice subsidiaries on the board, it is envisaged that Sonic will not fully comply 

with Recommendation 2.1 in the short to medium term. However, the establishment of a Nominations Committee in 

July 2003, the retirement of two executive directors at the 2003 Annual General Meeting and the appointment of Mr 

Lou Panaccio (June 2005) as an additional independent director were significant steps towards compliance.

The board has resolved that the position of Chairman of the board be held by an independent director, and the position 

of Chairman and Managing Director will be held by different persons.  The board has also resolved that the mere 

fact that a director has been in office for a period greater than 10 years does not change that director’s status as an 

independent.  The board has specifically considered the position of Mr Barry Patterson and Mr Peter Campbell and has 

determined that they are independent.

The size and composition of the board is determined by the full board acting on recommendations of the Nominations 

Committee.  Sonic’s constitution requires that the board comprise no more than 12 and no less than 3 directors at any 

time.  Sonic’s constitution also requires all directors, other than the Managing Director, to offer themselves for re-election 

at an Annual General Meeting, such that they do not hold office without re-election for longer than three years.

(c) Board meetings

The board meets formally at least 10 times a year to consider a broad range of matters, including strategy, financial 

performance reviews, capital management and acquisitions.  Details of meetings (both full board and committees) and 

attendances are set out in the Directors’ report.

(d) independent professional advice and access to information

Each director has the right to seek independent professional advice at the company’s expense.  However, prior approval 

of the Chairman is required, which is not unreasonably withheld.

All directors have unrestricted access to company records and information and receive detailed financial and 

operational reports from senior management during the year to enable them to carry out their duties.  Directors also 

liaise with senior management as required and may consult with other employees and seek additional information  

on request.
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1. Board of directors (continued)

(e) Conflicts of interest of directors

The board has guidelines dealing with disclosure of interests by directors and participation and voting at board meetings 

where any such interests are discussed.  In accordance with the Corporations Act, any director with a material personal 

interest in a matter being considered by the board does not receive the relevant board papers, must not be present 

when the matter is being considered, and may not vote on the matter.

(f) share trading

Under Sonic’s Share Trading Policy, all Sonic employees are prohibited from buying or selling Sonic shares at any time 

they are aware of any material price sensitive information that has not been made public, and are reminded of the 

laws against “insider trading”.  Certain “Designated Officers”, including all directors and senior executives, are also 

prohibited from trading in periods other than in 8 week windows following the release of half year and full year results, 

and 2 week periods following the provision to the market at any time by Sonic of definitive guidance regarding the 

next result to be released.  Exceptions to this prohibition can be approved by the Chairman (for other directors) or the 

Managing Director (for all other employees) in circumstances of financial hardship.  All trading by Designated Officers 

must be notified to the Company Secretary. Prohibitions also apply to trading in financial instruments related to Sonic’s 

shares, including products which limit the economic risk of option or share holdings in Sonic, and to trading in the 

shares of other entities using information obtained through employment with Sonic.  In addition, the Managing Director 

and Finance Director are required to obtain approval from the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee before selling 

any shares.  All Sonic share dealings by directors are promptly notified to the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). 

2. Board committees

To assist the board in fulfilling its duties, there are currently four board committees whose terms of reference and powers 

are determined by the board. Details of committee meetings and attendances are set out in the Directors’ report.

(a) remuneration Committee

The role of the Remuneration Committee is to review and make recommendations to the board on remuneration 

packages and policies applicable to the Managing Director and Finance Director and to advise the board in relation 

to equity based incentive schemes for other employees.  In addition, the Committee ensures appropriate disclosure 

is provided to shareholders in relation to remuneration policies and that equity based remuneration is within plans 

approved by shareholders.  The Remuneration Committee, when deemed necessary, obtains independent advice on 

the appropriateness of remuneration packages.

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year were:

Mr B.S. Patterson (Chairman)

Mr R.P. Campbell

The Remuneration Committee operates under a formal Charter and meets on an as required basis.

The current remuneration for non-executive directors is $80,000 per annum plus $10,000 per annum for each board 

committee upon which they serve.  The maximum total remuneration per annum for non-executive directors of $800,000 

was approved by shareholders in July 2001. Options are not issued and bonuses are not payable to non-executive 

directors. No retirement benefit schemes (other then statutory superannuation) apply to non-executive directors. Further 

details of Sonic’s remuneration policies for executive directors and senior executives of the company, and the relationship 

between such policy and the company’s performance are provided in the Directors’ report.
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(b) audit Committee

The principal role of the Audit Committee is to provide the board, investors, owners and stakeholders with confidence 

that the financial reports for the company represent a true and fair view of the company’s financial condition and 

operational results in all material respects, and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards.

The members of the Audit Committee are:

Mr R.P. Campbell (Chairman)

Mr L.J. Panaccio

Mr B.S. Patterson

The external auditors, the Managing Director and the Finance Director are invited to Audit Committee meetings at the 

discretion of the Committee.

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee are set out in its Charter and include:

– assisting the board in its oversight responsibilities by monitoring and advising on:

•	 the	integrity	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	company,

•	 the	 company’s	 accounting	 policies	 and	 practices	 in	 accordance	 with	 current	 and	 emerging	 accounting	

standards,

•	 the	external	auditors’	independence	and	performance,

•	 compliance	with	legal	and	regulatory	requirements	and	policies	in	this	regard,

•	 compliance	with	the	policy	framework	in	place	from	time	to	time,	and

•	 internal	controls,	and	the	overall	efficiency	and	effectiveness	of	financial	operations.

– providing a forum for communication between the board, executive management and external auditors.

– providing a conduit to the board for external advice on audit and financial risk management.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee receives regular reports from management and the external auditors.  

It also meets with the external auditors at least twice a year, and more frequently if necessary, and reviews any 

significant disagreements between the auditors and management, irrespective of whether they have been resolved.  

The external auditors have a clear line of direct communication at any time to either the Chairman of the Audit 

Committee or the Chairman of the board.

The Audit Committee has authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires from any 

employee or external party.

(c) risk Management Committee

The members of the Risk Management Committee are:

 Mr C.D. Wilks (Chairman)

 Dr C.S. Goldschmidt

 Dr P.J. Dubois

Corporate governanCe stateMent (CONTINUED)
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2. Board committees (continued)

(c) risk Management Committee (continued)

The Risk Management Committee’s responsibilities are set out in its Charter and include:

– assisting the board in its oversight responsibilities by monitoring and advising on:

•	 the	management	of	operational	risks,	including	but	not	limited	to:

 the company’s insurance program

 environmental risks

 disaster recovery strategy

 litigation against the company

 industry related regulatory compliance.

•	 compliance	with	the	policy	framework	in	place	from	time	to	time.

•	 internal	controls	over	operational	risks.

•	 the	company’s	overall	operational	risk	management	program.

– providing a forum for communication between the board, management and external risk management advisors.

– providing a conduit to the board for external advice on operational risk management.

The Risk Management Committee does not have any responsibility in relation to strategic and financial risk management, 

which is the responsibility of the company’s Audit Committee.

The Committee meets at least twice per year.

(d) nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee’s role, as set out in its Charter, is to:

– review the board structure.

– advise the board on the recruitment, appointment and removal of directors.

– assess and promote the enhancement of competencies of directors.

– review board succession plans.

– make recommendations on remuneration of non-executive directors.

Members of the Nominations Committee are:

 Mr B.S. Patterson (Chairman)

 Mr R.P. Campbell

 Dr C.S. Goldschmidt

The Committee meets on an as required basis.

Corporate governanCe stateMent (CONTINUED)
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3. identifying and managing business risks

Sonic recognises that risk management is an integral part of good management and corporate governance practice 

and is fundamental to driving shareholder value across the business.

Sonic views the management of risk as a core managerial capability.  Risk management is strongly promoted internally 

and forms part of the performance evaluation of key executives.

(a) responsibilities

The board determines the overall risk profile of the business and is responsible for monitoring and ensuring the 

maintenance of adequate risk management controls and reporting mechanisms.

To assist the board in fulfilling its duties, it is aided by the Audit Committee (in relation to strategic and financial risk 

management) and the Risk Management Committee (in relation to operational and compliance risk management).   

The board has delegated to these Committees responsibility for ensuring:

– the company’s material business risks, including strategic, financial, operational and compliance risks,  

are identified,

– systems are in place to assess, manage, monitor and report on those risks, and that those systems are  

operating effectively,

– management compliance with board approved policies,

– internal controls are operating effectively across the business, and

– all Group companies are in compliance with laws and regulations relating to their activities.

The Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee update the board on all relevant matters.

Management is responsible for the identification, assessment and management of business risks, and it reports on these 

matters, including the effectiveness of the management of Sonic’s material business risks, to the Audit Committee and 

Risk Management Committee through various mechanisms depending on the nature of the risks. 

(b) risk management systems and processes

Sonic’s activities across all of its operating entities are subject to regular review and continuous oversight by executive 

management and the board committees.  The Chief Executive Officers of the individual operating companies are 

responsible for the identification and management of risk within their business.  To assist in this, executive management 

has developed an effective control environment to help manage the significant risks to its operations, both locally and 

overseas.  This environment includes the following components:

– clearly defined management responsibilities, management accountabilities and organisational structures,

– established policies and procedures that are widely disseminated to, and understood by, employees,

– regular internal review of policy compliance and the effectiveness of systems and controls, in particular, through 

Sonic’s Business Assurance Program, an internal audit function,

– comprehensive training programs for staff in relation to pathology and radiology operational practices and 

compliance requirements,

– strong management reporting framework for both financial and operational information,

– creation of an open culture to share risk management information and to continuously improve the effectiveness of 

Sonic’s risk management approach,

– benchmarking across operations to share best practice and further reduce the operational risk profile,

Corporate governanCe stateMent (CONTINUED)
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3. identifying and managing business risks (continued)

(b) risk management systems and processes (continued)

– Sonic Core Values, a uniting code of conduct embraced by Sonic employees,

– centrally administered Group insurance program ensuring a consistent and adequate approach across all operating 

areas, and

– the appointment during the year of a professional Risk Manager to better coordinate the company’s approach to 

material business risk management.

(c) regulatory compliance

Sonic’s pathology and radiology activities are subject to Commonwealth and State law in Australia, and similar 

regulatory control in offshore locations.  These laws cover such areas as laboratory and collection centre operations, 

workplace health and safety, radiation safety, privacy of information and waste management.

Sonic’s network of pathology laboratories, collection centres and radiology centres are required to meet and remain 

compliant with set performance criteria determined by government and industry bodies.

To support this, Sonic’s operating policies and procedures are overseen by internal quality assurance and workplace 

health and safety managers who review operational compliance.

In addition, practising pathologists and radiologists are required to be registered and licensed in accordance with 

Medical Board and Government regulations.  The accreditation and licensing of locations, equipment and personnel 

is subject to regular, random audits by Government experts and medical peer groups.  Sonic also undertakes internal 

reviews to ensure continued best practice and compliance.

Sonic’s established procedures, focus on best practice, medical leadership model, structured staff training and the 

external review activities serve to mitigate operational risk and support regulatory compliance.

(d) Managing Director and Finance Director certification 

Sonic has adopted a policy requiring the Managing Director and the Finance Director to provide the Board with written 

certification in relation to its financial reporting processes.  For the 2008 financial year, the Managing Director and 

Finance Director made the following certifications:

– that the financial records of the company have been properly maintained,

– that the financial statements and notes comply in all material respects with the accounting standards,

– that the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the company’s financial 

condition and operational results, and

– that the statements above are founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control which operates 

effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

4. ethical standards

The company has adopted a Code of Ethics policy that outlines the standards required, so that the directors and 

management conduct themselves with the highest ethical standards.  All employees of the company and its controlled 

entities are informed of the Code.  The directors regularly review this code to ensure it reflects best practice in corporate 

governance.  The Code is further supported by the Sonic Core Values.
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5. Continuous disclosure

The Company Secretary has been nominated as the person responsible for communications with the ASX.  This role 

includes responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements in the ASX listing rules  

and overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and 

the public.

Sonic has formalised its policies and procedures on information disclosure in a Policy on Continuous Disclosure.  The 

Policy focuses on continuous disclosure of any information concerning the company and its controlled entities that 

a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the price of the company’s securities, and sets out 

management’s responsibilities and reporting procedures in this regard.

All information disclosed to the ASX is then immediately posted on the company’s website.  Presentations to analysts on 

aspects of the company’s operations are released to the ASX and posted on the company’s website.

6. the role of shareholders

The Board of directors aims to ensure that the shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting the Group’s 

state of affairs.  Information is communicated to shareholders as follows:

– the annual report is available to all shareholders on the company’s website and is distributed to those shareholders 

who elect to receive it.  The board ensures that the annual report includes relevant information about the operations 

of the Group during the year, changes in the state of affairs of the Group and details of likely future developments, 

in addition to the other disclosures required by law; and

– proposed major changes in the Group which may impact on share ownership rights are submitted to a vote of 

shareholders.

To further facilitate communication with shareholders, the company has established electronic shareholder 

communication processes via its Share Registry.  Shareholders are able to access online annual reports, notices of 

meetings, proxy forms and voting, and receive electronic statements (e.g. holding statements) by email.  The 

company has an arrangement with eTree by which it donates $1 to Landcare Australia for each shareholder email  

address recorded.

The board encourages full participation of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of 

accountability and identification with the Group’s strategy and goals.  Important issues are presented to the shareholders 

as single resolutions.

The shareholders are responsible for voting on the appointment of directors.

7. external auditors

The company’s policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence.  The 

performance of the external auditor is reviewed annually.  Sonic requires its external auditor to attend the Annual 

General Meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the auditor’s 

report. It is the policy of the external auditors to provide an annual declaration of their independence to the  

Audit Committee.
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Corporate governanCe stateMent (CONTINUED)

8. performance evaluation of the board, its committees and directors, and key executive officers

(a) the board and its committees

The board carries out an annual evaluation of its own performance in meeting its key responsibilities in accordance 

with the Board Charter, by undertaking the following activities:

– the Chairman discusses with each director their individual performance and ideas for improvement based on 

surveys completed by each director assessing their own and each other directors’ performance, and

– the board as a whole discusses and analyses its own performance, including suggestions for change or improvement 

and assessment of the extent to which the board has discharged its responsibilities as set out in the Board Charter.

The performance review covers matters such as contribution to strategy development, interaction with management, 

operation and conduct of meetings, and specific performance objectives for the year ahead.

The board also obtains feedback on their performance and operations from key people such as the external auditors.

Each committee of the board is required to undertake an annual performance evaluation and report the results of this 

review to the board.

Performance evaluation results are discussed by the board, and initiatives are undertaken, where appropriate, to 

strengthen the effectiveness of the board’s operation and that of its committees.  The board periodically reviews the 

skills, experience and expertise of its directors and its practices and procedures for both the present and future needs 

of the company.

(b) the Managing Director and Finance Director

The performances of the Managing Director and Finance Director are formally reviewed by the board.  The performance 

criteria include:

– economic results of the Group,

– fulfilment of objectives and duties,

– personnel and resource management,

– personal conduct and Sonic Core Values,

– corporate governance and compliance,

– risk management, and

– feedback from clients and investors.

Performance evaluation results are considered by the Remuneration Committee in determining the level and structure 

of remuneration for the Managing Director and Finance Director.

(c) Key executives

The Managing Director evaluates key executives at least annually with qualitative and quantitative measures against 

agreed business and personal objectives.  These business and personal objectives are consistent with those used in the 

performance reviews for the Managing Director and Finance Director.
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The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 30 June 2008.  The financial 

statements and specific disclosures included in the concise financial report have been derived from the full financial 

report.  The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, 

financial position and financing and investing activities of Sonic Healthcare Limited and its controlled entities as the full 

financial report.  Further financial information can be obtained from the full financial report.

The full financial report and auditor’s report can be accessed via the internet on our website: www.sonichealthcare.com. 

Alternatively, members can call +61 2 9855 5444 and request a copy of the full financial report and auditor’s report, 

which will be sent free of charge.
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ConsoLiDateD inCoMe stateMent For the year ended 30 June 2008

notes
2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Revenue from operations 4 2,365,014 1,877,682
Other income 15,313 8,399

total revenue 2,380,327 1,886,081

Labour and related costs (1,054,236) (846,022)
Consumables used (395,265) (286,927)
Operating lease rental expense  (116,254) (84,287)
Depreciation and amortisation of physical assets (75,909) (62,105)
Borrowing costs expense (73,795) (54,302)
Transportation  (71,595) (51,420)
Utilities (53,512) (42,345)
Repairs and maintenance (48,902) (42,113)
Amortisation of intangibles (5,906) (2,633)
Other expenses from ordinary activities (153,086) (123,471)

profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense 331,867 290,456
Income tax (expense)/benefit (81,461) (80,402)

profit from ordinary activities after income tax expense 250,406 210,054
Net (profit) attributable to minority interests (5,290) (11,982)

profit attributable to members of sonic Healthcare Limited 245,116 198,072

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 6 75.0 66.6
Diluted earnings per share 6 73.5 65.5

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ConsoLiDateD BaLanCe sHeet As at 30 June 2008

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Current assets
Cash assets and cash equivalents 63,865 35,960
Other financial assets (interest rate hedges) 4,710 4,759
Receivables 314,151 247,601
Inventories 41,342 32,429
Other 23,775 20,650

Total current assets 447,843 341,399

non-current assets
Receivables 3,872 4,245
Other financial assets (investments) 11,618 6,931
Property, plant and equipment 424,966 371,226
Investment properties 16,500 -
Intangible assets 2,700,231 2,149,437
Deferred tax assets 22,259 24,932
Other 1,712 2,292

Total non-current assets 3,181,158 2,559,063

total assets 3,629,001 2,900,462

Current liabilities
Payables 187,808 158,356
Interest bearing liabilities 510,348 455,689
Current tax liabilities 19,615 4,888
Provisions 93,994 78,639
Other financial liabilities (interest rate hedges) 7,269 542
Other 12,159 7,468

Total current liabilities 831,193 705,582

non-current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 791,702 719,567
Deferred tax liabilities 5,685 11,076
Provisions 35,450 19,413
Other 2,892 6,379

Total non-current liabilities 835,729 756,435

total liabilities 1,666,922 1,462,017

net assets 1,962,079 1,438,445

equity
Parent Company interest

Contributed equity 1,709,577 1,242,859
Reserves (8,895) 12,397
Accumulated profits 249,308 164,220

Total Parent Company interest 1,949,990 1,419,476
Minority interests 12,089 18,969

total equity 1,962,079 1,438,445
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For the year ended 30 June 2008ConsoLiDateD stateMent oF reCogniseD inCoMe anD expense

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (34,997) (14,141)
Cash flow hedges (net of tax) (1,788) 1,007
Revaluation of property 3,875 -
Actuarial gains on retirement benefit obligations (net of tax) 1,915 -
net movements recognised directly in equity (30,995) (13,134)
profit for the year 250,406 210,054

219,411 196,920

Attributable to:
Members of Sonic Healthcare Limited 213,814 186,951
Minority interests 5,597 9,969

219,411 196,920

effect of change in accounting policies
Total equity at the beginning of the financial year 1,438,445 -
Adjustment for change of accounting policy to:

Accumulated profits - -

Restated total equity at the beginning of the financial year 1,438,445 -

Profit as reported in the 2007 financial report - 210,054
Change in accounting policy - -
Restated profit - 210,054

The above consolidated statement of recognised income and expense should be read in conjunction with the 

accompanying notes.
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2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 2,428,021 1,919,997
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (1,975,469) (1,536,825)

452,552 383,172

Interest received 8,909 3,829
Borrowing costs (71,904) (53,632)
Income taxes paid (57,672) (65,434)
net cash inflow from operating activities 331,885 267,935

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for purchase of controlled entities, net of cash acquired (683,468) (486,101)
Payments for property, plant and equipment, and intangibles (142,824) (129,206)
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 9,286 6,281
Payments for investments (4,341) (2,186)
Payments from restructuring and surplus leased space provisions (847) (5,386)
Repayment of loans by other entities 11,328 4,796
Loans to other entities (7,984) (3,620)
net cash (outflow) from investing activities (818,850) (615,422)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of shares and other equity securities 462,392 4,119
Proceeds from borrowings 1,751,675 733,808
Repayment of borrowings (1,549,594) (283,954)
Dividends paid to company’s shareholders (161,953) (127,054)
Dividends paid to minority interests in subsidiaries (527) (2,604)
net cash inflow from financing activities 501,993 324,315

net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,028 (23,172)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 35,960 68,156
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 12,877 (9,024)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 63,865 35,960
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notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents 30 June 2008
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This concise financial report relates to the Group consisting of Sonic Healthcare Limited and the entities it controlled at 

the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2008.  The accounting policies adopted have been consistently applied 

to all years presented except as disclosed in Note 2.
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30 June 2008notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents

note 1 presentation currency

The presentation currency used in this concise financial report is Australian dollars.

note 2 Change in accounting policies

(i) Change in accounting policy – AASB 2 – Group and Share Treasury Share Transactions  
(AASB Interpretation 11)

There has been a change in accounting policy arising from the initial adoption of AASB Interpretation 11.  

Previously the fair value of equity remuneration granted under various employee plans was recognised in the 

income statement of the Parent Company only.  The fair value of options and shares granted is now recognised 

in the subsidiary where the recipient of the equity remuneration is employed.

The Interpretation has been applied retrospectively to the previously reported results of the Parent Company with 

no impact on the current or prior reporting periods for the Group.

(ii) Change in accounting policy – Investment Properties

There has been a change in accounting policy for investment properties which are now carried at fair value 

rather than at cost less accumulated depreciation.  The change was made to provide more relevant values for 

the investment properties in the financial statements now that the Group has an investment property available 

for lease to external parties.

The change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively to the previously reported results of the Parent 

Company with no impact on the current or prior reporting periods for the Group as there were no investment 

properties until the 2008 year.

note 3 segment information

Business segments

The Group’s primary segment reporting format is business segments.  The Group delivers medical diagnostic services 

in the following segments:

(i) Pathology

Pathology/clinical laboratory services provided in Australia, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, the United States 

of America, and Germany and Switzerland.

(ii) Radiology

Radiology and diagnostic imaging services provided in Australia, New Zealand and in 2007, Hong Kong.

(iii) Other

Includes the corporate office function and other minor operations, as well as the consolidated results of Independent 

Practitioner Network Limited (IPN).
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notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents 30 June 2008

note 3 segment information (continued)

primary reporting – Business segments

2008
pathology

$’000
radiology

$’000
other
$’000

eliminations
$’000

group
$’000

revenue
External sales 1,914,338 331,389 110,378 - 2,356,105
Inter segment sales 364 296 3,990 (4,650) -
Other income 440 1,530 13,343 - 15,313
Total segment revenue 1,915,142 333,215 127,711 (4,650) 2,371,418
Interest income 8,909
total segment revenue 2,380,327

result
Segment result before interest and tax 365,675 40,547 (9,469) - 396,753
Unallocated net interest expense (64,886)
Profit before tax 331,867
Income tax expense (81,461)
profit after income tax expense 250,406

segment assets* 2,861,535 548,068 1,519,502 (1,300,104) 3,629,001

segment liabilities** 448,673 269,658 46,652 (400,111) 364,872
Unallocated liabilities 1,302,050
Total liabilities 1,666,922

* Segment assets for pathology and radiology include the goodwill relating to these segments.  Eliminations of segmental  
assets represent the investments held in the ‘other’ business segment.  Inter-segment receivables are also included in the relevant 
business segment.

** Segment liabilities exclude interest bearing liabilities which are deemed an unallocated liability.  Inter-segment payables are 
included in the relevant business segment.
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note 3 segment information (continued)

primary reporting – Business segments (continued)

2007
pathology

$’000
radiology

$’000
other
$’000

eliminations
$’000

group
$’000

revenue
External sales 1,460,989 326,257 86,607 - 1,873,853
Inter segment sales 182 366 3,444 (3,992) -
Other income 266 59 8,074 - 8,399
Total segment revenue 1,461,437 326,682 98,125 (3,992) 1,882,252
Interest income 3,829
total segment revenue 1,886,081

result
Segment result before interest and tax 302,141 45,177 (6,389) - 340,929
Unallocated net interest expense (50,473)
Profit before tax 290,456
Income tax expense (80,402)
profit after income tax expense 210,054

segment assets* 2,229,348 530,436 1,319,118 (1,178,440) 2,900,462

segment liabilities** 333,618 231,452 43,445 (321,754) 286,761
Unallocated liabilities 1,175,256
Total liabilities 1,462,017

* Segment assets for pathology and radiology include the goodwill relating to these segments.  Eliminations of segmental assets 
represent the investments held in the ‘other’ business segment.  Inter-segment receivables are also included in the relevant business 
segment.

** Segment liabilities exclude interest bearing liabilities which are deemed an unallocated liability.  Inter-segment payables are 
included in the relevant business segment.
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note 4 revenue

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

services revenue
Medical services revenue 2,331,425 1,846,843

other revenue
Interest received or due and receivable 8,909 3,829
Rental income 13,484 11,339
Other revenue 11,196 15,671

33,589 30,839

Revenue from operations 2,365,014 1,877,682

note 5 Dividends

total dividends paid on ordinary shares during the year

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2007 of 29 cents (2006: 26 cents) 

per share paid on 20 September 2007 (2006: 19 September 2006), fully 

franked based on tax paid at 30% 95,248 76,784

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2008 of 20 cents  

(2007: 17 cents) per share paid on 26 March 2008 (2007: 28 March 2007), 

fully franked based on tax paid at 30% 66,695 50,270

161,943 127,054

Dividends not recognised at year end

In addition to the above dividends, since year end the directors have 

declared the payment of a final dividend of 32 cents (2007: 29 cents) per 

ordinary share, fully franked based on tax paid at 30%.  The aggregate 

amount of the final dividend expected to be paid on 9 October 2008 out of 

retained profits at the end of the year, but not recognised as a liability is: 107,203 95,248

30 June 2008
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note 5 Dividends (continued)

Franked dividends

The 2008 final dividend declared after the year end will be franked out of existing franking credits or out of franking 

credits arising from the payment of income tax in the year ending 30 June 2009.

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Franking credits available at the year end for subsequent financial years 

based on a tax rate of 30% 37,751 74,097

The consolidated amounts include franking credits that would be available to the Parent Company if distributable profits 

of subsidiaries not part of the Australian tax group were paid as dividends.  Under the tax consolidation legislation all 

of the franking credits of the Australian tax consolidated group are held by the Parent Company.

The impact on the franking account of the dividend declared by the directors since year end, but not recognised as a 

liability at year end, will be a reduction in the franking account of $45,944,000 (2007: $40,821,000).

Dividend reinvestment plan (Drp)

The Board has determined that the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) will operate for the 2008 final 

dividend.  Shares issued under the DRP will have a subscription price of $12.72, 2.5% below the average of the daily 

volume weighted average price of Sonic shares sold (excluding off-market trades) on each of the 10 consecutive 

trading days from and including the second trading day after the record date for participation in the DRP which was 

12 September 2008.  Shares will be allocated under the DRP on 9 October 2008.  Shareholders holding ~40% of Sonic’s 

ordinary shares elected to participate in the DRP.  The balance (~$65 Million) of the 2008 final dividend which has 

not been reinvested by shareholders in the DRP has been fully underwritten at an issue price of $12.92.  The DRP was 

suspended in respect of the interim and final dividends for the year ended 30 June 2007 and the interim dividend for 

the year ended 30 June 2008.

30 June 2008notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents
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note 6 earnings per share

2008
Cents

2007
Cents

Basic earnings per share 75.0 66.6
Diluted earnings per share 73.5 65.5

2008
shares

2007
shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the 
denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in 

calculating basic earnings per share 326,845,998 297,247,195

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary 

shares used as the denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share 333,379,534 302,285,149

Options over ordinary shares are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination 

of diluted earnings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive.  The options have not been included in the 

determination of basic earnings per share. 

Details of the options exercised and issued in the period between the reporting date and the date of this report are 

detailed in Note 7.

The issue of ordinary shares to occur on 9 October 2008 under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan and 

associated underwriting have not been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share.

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings  
per share
Net profit 250,406 210,054
Net (profit) attributable to minority interests (5,290) (11,982)

Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share 245,116 198,072

notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents 30 June 2008
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30 June 2008notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents

note 7 share options

(a) shares under option

Unissued ordinary shares of Sonic Healthcare Limited and its subsidiary Independent Practitioner Network Limited, 

under option at the date of this report are as follows:

(i) Sonic Healthcare Limited Employee Option Plan

grant date expiry date issue price of shares

number of 
options at 

date of report

23/09/04 23/07/09 $9.51 10,000
23/09/04 23/07/09 $9.56 205,000
15/11/06 15/09/11 $13.10 1,200,000
13/08/07 13/06/12 $13.00 500,000
31/07/08 31/05/13 $13.65 200,000

2,115,000

The above options granted are able to be exercised subject to the following vesting periods:

– Up to 50% may be exercised after 30 months from the date of grant

– Up to 75% may be exercised after 42 months from the date of grant

– Up to 100% may be exercised after 54 months from the date of grant

(ii) Queensland X-Ray (QXR) options

Pursuant to Sonic’s agreement with the vendors of QXR, Sonic is to issue a total of 1,000,000 options to staff of QXR of 

which 825,000 options have been issued at the date of this report.  The vesting and other conditions for these options 

are the same as those for the Sonic Healthcare Limited Employee Option Plan.

grant date expiry date issue price of shares

number of 
options at 

date of report

19/02/04 19/12/08 $7.57 12,000
24/07/06 24/05/11 $12.69 40,000

52,000
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note 7 share options (continued)

(a) shares under option (continued)

(iii) Executive Incentive Plan

At the date of this report the following options are on issue:

grant date expiry date issue price of shares

number of 
options at 

date of report

26/11/04 26/11/09 $7.50 140,000
22/08/05 22/08/10 $7.50 1,540,000
22/08/06 22/08/11 $7.50 1,540,000
24/08/07 24/08/12 $7.50 1,540,000
22/08/08 22/08/13 $7.50 1,540,000

6,300,000

Executive Incentive Plan options expire 60 months after issue and are able to be exercised subject to the following 

vesting periods:

– Up to 50% may be exercised after 24 months from the date of issue

– Up to 100% may be exercised after 36 months from the date of issue

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the company or of any  

other entity.

(iv) Independent Practitioner Network Limited Employee Share Option Scheme

Independent Practitioner Network Limited (a member of the Group) could, at the discretion of its Board of Directors, 

grant options over the ordinary shares in Independent Practitioner Network Limited to directors, executives and certain 

members of IPN’s staff.  For the grants on the 29 November 2007, 7 December 2006 and 20 December 2006 the options 

vest one third after two years, one third after three years and the balance after four years with the expiry being one 

year after each vesting date.  Vesting is subject to EPS growth targets being met of 10% compounded annually.  For all 

remaining grants under the plan 25% of the grant vests at each anniversary.

1,000,000 non-employee share option scheme options over unissued IPN shares were issued on 3 October 2006 to 

the sellers of the Redcliffe Medical Centre business.  The options vest one third after two years, one third after three 

years and one third after four years from the date of acquisition, providing the recipients continue to practice from the 

Medical Centre business acquired.  The options have an exercise price of $0.1441 calculated as the volume weighted 

average price of shares on the 30 days immediately proceeding the grant date.  The options expire on 2 October 2011 

and none are exercisable, or have been forfeited, at the date of this report.

In September 2008, Sonic reached agreement with IPN and the option holders to cancel all IPN options for total 

consideration of ~$2.4 Million to be paid on 1 October 2008.

30 June 2008notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents
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note 7 share options (continued)

(a) shares under option (continued)

(v) Schottdorf Group

3,000,000 options over unissued ordinary Sonic shares were granted on 1 July 2004 as part of the Schottdorf acquisition 

consideration.  Each option is convertible into one ordinary share as set out below on or before 31 August 2009 at an 

exercise price of $6.75:

– Up to 20% may be exercised after 1 July 2005

– Up to 40% may be exercised after 1 July 2006

– Up to 60% may be exercised after 1 July 2007

– Up to 80% may be exercised after 1 July 2008

– Up to 100% may be exercised after 1 July 2009

All of the 3,000,000 options remain unexercised as at the date of this report.

No option holder has any right under the option to participate in any other issue of the company or of any  

other entity.  

(vi) CPL

2,000,000 options over unissued ordinary Sonic shares were granted on 15 November 2006.  Each option is convertible 

into one ordinary share as set out below at an exercise price of $13.10:

– 1,400,000 may be exercised after 1 October 2010, expiring 30 September 2011

– 300,000 may be exercised after 1 October 2011, expiring 30 September 2012

– 300,000 may be exercised after 1 October 2012, expiring 30 September 2013

All of the 2,000,000 options remain unexercised as at the date of this report.

No option holder has any right under the option to participate in any other issue of the company or of any  

other entity.

(vii) Medica Laboratory Group

1,000,000 options over unissued ordinary Sonic shares were granted on 13 August 2007 as part of the Medica acquisition 

consideration.  Each option is convertible into one ordinary share after 30 May 2012 and on or before 30 September 

2012 at an exercise price of $13.00 or, where the closing market share price for Sonic’s shares on 30 May 2012 is less 

than $15.00, $2.00 less than the closing price on that day.

All of the 1,000,000 options remain unexercised as at the date of this report.

No option holder has any right under the option to participate in any other issue of the company or of any  

other entity.

30 June 2008notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents
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30 June 2008

note 7 share options (continued)

(a) shares under option (continued)

(viii) Bioscientia Healthcare Group

1,000,000 options over unissued ordinary Sonic shares were granted on 3 October 2007 as part of the Bioscientia 

acquisition consideration.  Each option is convertible into one ordinary share as set out below on or before 3 August 

2012 at an exercise price of $14.16:

– Up to 50% may be exercised after 3 April 2010

– Up to 75% may be exercised after 3 April 2011

– Up to 100% may be exercised after 3 April 2012

All of the 1,000,000 options remain unexercised as at the date of this report.

No option holder has any right under the option to participate in any other issue of the company or of any  

other entity.

(ix) Labor 28 Group

500,000 options over unissued ordinary Sonic shares were granted on 25 July 2008 as part of the Labor 28 acquisition 

consideration (Note 8).  All of the 500,000 options remain unexercised as at the date of this report.

(b) shares issued on the exercise of options up to the date of this report

(i) Sonic Healthcare Limited Employee Option Plan Options:

A total of 427,000 ordinary shares of Sonic were issued during the year ended 30 June 2008 on the exercise of options 

granted under the Sonic Healthcare Limited Employee Option Plan and a further 22,500 shares have been issued since 

that date, but prior to the date of this report.  The amounts paid on issue of those shares were:

number of options
amounts paid  

(per share)

309,500 $6.30
140,000 $9.56
449,500

(ii) Queensland X-Ray (QXR) Options:

A total of 78,000 ordinary shares of Sonic were issued during the year ended 30 June 2008 on the exercise of QXR 

options and 55,000 shares have been issued since that date, but prior to the date of this report.  The amounts paid on 

issue of those shares were:

number of options
amounts paid  

(per share)

50,000 $6.01
83,000 $7.57

133,000

notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents
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note 7 share options (continued)

(b) shares issued on the exercise of options up to the date of this report (continued)

(iii) Executive incentive plan:

A total of 1,400,000 ordinary shares were issued on the exercise of options after 30 June 2008 but prior to the date of this 

report.  The amount paid per share was $7.50.

(iv) Independent Practitioner Network Limited Employee Share Option Scheme:

A total of 380,000 ordinary shares of IPN were issued during the year ended 30 June 2008 on the exercise of options 

granted under the Independent Practitioner Network Limited Employee Share Option Scheme.  The amounts paid per 

share on issue of those shares was $0.1255.

No amounts are unpaid on any of these shares.

note 8 events occurring after reporting date

Since the end of the financial year, the directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with 

in these financial statements that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of 

those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years, other than as follows:

– On 1 July 2008 Sonic completed the acquisition of 100% of the Labor 28 Group based in Berlin, Germany for a 

purchase price of ~h74 Million.  The initial accounting for the acquisition has been determined only provisionally 

at the date of this report, given the recent settlement date.  Sonic is still in the process of reviewing the acquisition 

balance sheet and identifying assets and liabilities not previously recorded, so as to determine the fair values of 

identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities.  Based on the provisional accounting the indicative fair value 

of net tangible assets acquired is ~h2 Million, with a provisional goodwill value of ~h72 Million.

– On 1 July 2008 Sonic acquired the Laboratory Prof. Krech Group, its second acquisition in Switzerland for a purchase 

price of ~CHF6 Million.  The initial accounting for the acquisition has been determined only provisionally at the date 

of this report, given the recent settlement date.  Sonic is still in the process of reviewing the acquisition balance sheet 

and identifying assets and liabilities not previously recorded, so as to determine the fair values of identifiable assets, 

liabilities, and contingent liabilities.  Based on the provisional accounting the indicative fair value of net tangible 

assets acquired is ~CHF0.4 Million, with a provisional goodwill value of ~CHF5.6 Million.

– On 31 July 2008 Sonic established an additional A$160 Million three year term debt facility with two of its existing 

bankers, to re-establish “headroom” for expansion.

– On 20 August 2008 Sonic’s Directors declared a final dividend of 32 cents per ordinary share payable on 9 October 

2008.  Sonic’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan has been reinstated for this dividend with shareholders holding ~40% of 

Sonic’s ordinary shares electing to participate.  The balance (~$65 Million) of the 2008 final dividend not reinvested 

by shareholders in the DRP has been fully underwritten at an issue price of $12.92.  Shares under the DRP will be 

issued on 9 October 2008 at a price of $12.72.

– On 1 September 2008 Sonic completed the acquisition of 100% of the GLP Medical Group based in Hamburg, Germany 

for a purchase price of ~h30 Million.  Given this acquisition only recently settled, the process of determining the fair 

value of identifiable assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, and the amount of goodwill arising from the acquisition 

has only just commenced.

30 June 2008notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents
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30 June 2008

note 8 events occurring after reporting date (continued)

– On 2 September 2008 Sonic completed the acquisition of 100% of Clinical Laboratories of Hawaii and its associated 

anatomical pathology practice, Pan Pacific Pathologists, for a purchase price of ~US$121 Million.  Given this 

acquisition only recently settled, the process of determining the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities, contingent 

liabilities, and the amount of goodwill arising from the acquisition has only just commenced.

– On 25 September 2008 the Appeal Court of New Zealand reversed a previous High Court decision that stopped the 

award of a new community laboratory services contract in Auckland, New Zealand to a competitor.  Sonic intends 

to apply for leave to appeal this judgment in the Supreme Court of New Zealand and expects that Sonic’s current 

contract, which ends on 31 December 2008, will be extended for at least a further six months to allow time for the 

new appeal process.  This contract represented ~3% of Sonic’s 2008 revenue and EBITA.

– The Scheme of Arrangement under which Sonic will acquire all of the shares in Independent Practitioner Network 

Limited (“IPN”) which it does not already own became effective on 16 September 2008, having been approved by 

IPN shareholders and the Federal Court of Australia, and will be implemented on 30 September 2008.  Sonic will pay 

~A$75.6 Million for the shares plus ~A$2.4 Million to cancel options over unissued IPN shares.

notes to tHe ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL stateMents



For the year ended 30 June 2008DireCtors’ DeCLaration

The directors declare that in their opinion, the concise financial report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2008 as 

set out on pages 45 to 62 complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039: Concise Financial Reports.

The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 30 June 2008.  The financial  

statements and specific disclosures included in the concise financial report have been derived from the full  

financial report.

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, 

financial position and financing and investing activities of the consolidated entity as the full financial report, which is 

available on request.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Dr C.S. Goldschmidt

Managing Director

C.D. Wilks Sydney

Director 30 September 2008
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PricewaterhouseCoopers

ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2

201 Sussex Street

GPO BOX 2650

SYDNEY NSW 1171

DX 77 Sydney

Australia

www.pwc.com/au

Telephone +61 2 8266 0000

Facsimile + 61 2 8266 9999

report on the concise financial report

The accompanying concise financial report of Sonic Healthcare Limited comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 

2008, the income statement, statement of recognised income and expense and cash flow statement for the year  

then ended and related notes, derived from the audited financial report of Sonic Healthcare Limited for the year  

ended 30 June 2008. The concise financial report does not contain all the disclosures required by the Australian  

Accounting Standards.

Directors’ responsibility for the concise financial report 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the concise financial report in accordance 

with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports, and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility 

includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation of the concise financial report; 

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in  

the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the concise financial report based on our audit procedures. We have 

conducted an independent audit, in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, of the financial report of Sonic 

Healthcare Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008. Our audit report on the financial report for the year was signed on 

30 September 2008 and was not subject to any modification. The Australian Auditing Standards require that we comply 

with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance whether the financial report for the year is free from material misstatement.

Our procedures in respect of the concise financial report included testing that the information in the concise financial 

report is derived from, and is consistent with, the financial report for the year, and examination on a test basis, of 

evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures which were not directly derived from the financial report for 

the year. These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the concise 

financial report complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.

inDepenDent aUDitor’s report to tHe MeMBers oF soniC HeaLtHCare LiMiteD

Limited liability scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any 

material inconsistencies with the concise financial report.

For further explanation of an audit, visit our website http://www.pwc.com/au/financialstatementaudit.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or management.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  

audit opinions.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion on the financial report

In our opinion, the concise financial report of Sonic Healthcare Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008 complies with 

Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039: Concise Financial Reports.

Auditor’s opinion on the remuneration report

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Sonic Healthcare Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008 complies with 

section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial report

This auditor’s report relates to the financial report and remuneration report of Sonic Healthcare Limited for the year 

ended 30 June 2008 included on the Sonic Healthcare Limited web site. The company’s directors are responsible for 

the integrity of the Sonic Healthcare Limited web site. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of this web 

site. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report and remuneration report named above. It does not provide 

an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these statements or the remuneration 

report. If users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communications they are 

advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report and remuneration report to confirm the information 

included in the audited financial report and remuneration report presented on this web site.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

B K Hunter Sydney

Partner 30 September 2008

Independent audItor’s report to the members of sonIc healthcare lImIted (COnTInued)
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1. information relating to shareholders

(a) Distribution schedule as at 19 September 2008

no. of holders 
ordinary shares

1 – 1,000 10,383
1,001 – 5,000 11,764
5,001 – 10,000 1,071
10,001 – 100,000 668
100,001 and over 132

24,018
Voting rights – on a show of hands 1/member
 – on a poll 1/share
Percentage of total holding held by the twenty largest holders 78.48%
Number of holders holding less than a marketable parcel 216

(b) Substantial shareholders as at 19 September 2008

The company has received substantial shareholding notices to 19 September 2008 in respect of the following 

holdings:

no. of securities percentage held

Jardvan Pty Limited 18,458,704 5.51%

(c) Names of the twenty largest holders of equity securities as at 19 September 2008

no. of securities percentage held

National Nominees Limited 57,954,850 17.30%
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 57,719,233 17.23%
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 53,837,165 16.07%
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 25,242,994 7.53%
Jardvan Pty Ltd 18,458,704 5.51%
Cogent Nominees Pty Ltd 7,652,668 2.28%
ANZ Nominees Limited 7,007,649 2.09%
Queensland Investment Corporation 5,917,588 1.77%
AMP Life Limited 4,251,328 1.27%
Polly Pty Ltd 3,816,646 1.14%
Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 3,583,560 1.07%
Bond Street Custodians Limited 3,128,862 0.93%
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 2,861,921 0.85%
RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 2,524,628 0.75%
PSS Board 2,506,799 0.75%
Argo Investments Limited 1,569,483 0.47%
Quintal Pty Ltd 1,500,707 0.45%
Neweconomy Com Au Nominees P/L 1,133,554 0.34%
Invia Custodian Pty Ltd 1,127,883 0.34%
Tasman Asset Management Ltd 1,125,352 0.34%

262,921,574 78.48%

sHareHoLDers’ inForMation
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2. Unquoted equity securities as at 19 september 2008

no. on issue no. of holders

Options over unissued ordinary shares 15,967,000 68

3. share registry

Computershare investor services pty Limited
Registered address:  Level 5, 115 Grenfell Street, Adelaide, SA 5000

Postal address:  GPO Box 1903, Adelaide, SA 5001

Enquiries within Australia:  1300 556 161

Enquiries outside Australia: +61 3 9415 4000

Investor enquiries facsimile: +61 8 8236 2305

Email: web.queries@computershare.com.au

Shareholders with enquiries should email, telephone or write to the Share Registry.

Separate shareholdings may be consolidated by advising the Share Registry in writing or by completing a Request to 

Consolidate Holdings form which can be found online at the above website.

Change of address should be notified to the Share Registry by telephone or in writing without delay.  Shareholders who 

are broker sponsored on the CHESS sub-register must notify their sponsoring broker of a change of address.

Direct payment of dividends into a nominated account may be arranged with the Share Registry.  Shareholders are 

encouraged to use this option by completing a payment instruction form online or advising the Share Registry in writing 

with particulars.

The Annual Report is produced for your information.  However, should you receive more than one or wish to be 

removed from the mailing list for the Annual Report, please advise the Share Registry.  You will continue to receive any 

Notices of Meetings and Proxy Forms.

supporting the environment through etree

Sonic Healthcare Limited is a participating member of eTree and proud to support this environmental scheme 

encouraging security holders to register to access all their communications electronically.  Our partnership with eTree is 

an ongoing commitment to driving sustainable initiatives that help security holders contribute to a greener future.

For every email address registered at www.eTree.com.au/sonichealthcare, a donation of $1 is made to Landcare 

Australia.  With your support of the eTree project, Sonic Healthcare has decreased its annual report and print production 

by ~10%.  The result, in conjunction with Landcare Australia, is thousands of new trees being planted in reforestation 

projects around Australia and New Zealand.  Furthermore, the ongoing benefits of this initiative include a reduction in 

energy and water resources associated with paper production.

We also encourage you to visit eTree if your email address has changed and you need to update it.  For every updated 

registration, $1 will be donated to Landcare Australia.  To register, you will need your Security Holder Reference Number 

(SRN) or Holder Identification Number (HIN).

4. annual general Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at The Winten Teale Buchanan Room, The Four Seasons, 199 George Street, 

Sydney at 10.00am on Thursday 20th November 2008.

sHareHoLDers’ inForMation (CONTINUED)



  Sonic Healthcare Annual Report 200868



Annual Report 2008

2008

Annual Report

Son
ic H

ea
lthca

re A
nnua

l Rep
ort 2008




